

UNIVERSITY OF LATVIA

FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Karīna Narbute

NEW PHARMACOTHERAPEUTIC APPROACHES IN TARGETING NEURODEGENERATIVE PROCESSES

DOCTORAL THESIS

Promotion to the degree of Doctor of Basic Medical Science including Pharmacy (Ph.D. in Medicine)

Subfield of Pharmacology

Riga, 2020

"Nothing in life is to be feared, it is only to be understood. Now is the time to understand more, so that we may fear less."

Marie Sklodowska Curie

The doctoral thesis study was carried out at the Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Latvia, from 2017 to 2020.

The thesis contains the introduction, 5 chapters, reference list, and the list of scientific publications.

Form of the thesis: dissertation in Medicine, Pharmacology

Supervisor: Dr. habil. med., Professor Vija Zaiga Kluša

Reviewers:

1) Prof., Dr.biol., Una Riekstiņa, Latvijas Universitāte

2) Dr.med. Līga Zvejniece, Latvijas Organiskās sintēzes institūts

3) Doc., Ph.D. Mikko Airavaara, Helsinku Universitāte

The thesis will be defended at the public session of the Doctoral Committee of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Latvia, on the 25th of September, 2020 at the University of Latvia House of Science, 3 Jelgavas Street.

The thesis is available at the Library of the University of Latvia, 19 Raina blvd.

This thesis is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Medicine on the 11th of June 2020 by the Doctoral Committee of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Latvia.

Chairman of the Doctoral Committee

____/

Dr. med., Professor Valdis Pīrāgs

Secretary of the Doctoral Committee

____/

Dr. biol., Associated Professor Līga Plakane

© University of Latvia, 2020

© Karīna Narbute, 2020

ANNOTATION

The increase in the frequency of progressive neurodegenerative diseases evokes a significant economic and social burden to governments, patients, and their families. The most common neurodegenerative diseases are sporadic type of Alzheimer's disease (sAD) and Parkinson's disease (PD), which remain incurable up to this day. sAD and PD both have common etiopathological causes linked to late-onset progressive proteinopathies. The research in the past three decades has led to new insights on how to halt neurodegeneration: future treatments should target the disease in its earliest stages, prior to the occurrence of irreversible brain damage or mental decline. Thus, pathological processes in the early stages of sAD and PD – neuroinflammation, oxidative stress, impaired cerebral glucose, and insulin metabolism– could serve as targets for the early therapeutic interventions of these diseases.

We have chosen an innovative approach in targeting neurodegeneration – with antihyperglycemic drug metformin and extracellular vesicles (EVs). These substances can cross the brain-blood barrier and have proven to exhibit neuroprotective properties *in vitro*. Hence, we suggest that these compounds could possess neuroprotective and cognition-improving effects *in vivo*. We hypothesize is that amelioration of neuroinflammation, normalization of brain glucose metabolism and the expression of proteins involved in neuronal cell homeostasis, are essential for intracellular communication that determines cognitive and motor functions and, hence, cell survival.

We have studied metformin in a sAD-type rat model generated by injecting streptozocin (STZ) intracerebroventricularly and EVs intranasally in PD-type model obtained by injecting 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) into the medial forebrain bundle of rats. We have discovered that metformin treatment improved spatial learning/memory and social behavior, normalized STZ-induced pathological changes in the expression of brain proteins involved in glucose transport and uptake, neuroinflammation, synaptic plasticity and acetylcholine cleavage. Metformin also demonstrated acetylcholine esterase activity inhibiting properties *in vitro*.

Administration of EVs normalized, in a time-dependent manner, 6-OHDA-induced disturbances in animal gait and spatial learning/memory performance, preserved expression of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), a key enzyme involved in dopamine synthesis, as well as Nissl body expression in the nigrostriatal structures.

The data obtained in this thesis demonstrate, for the first time, neuroprotective and neuroregulatory properties of metformin and EVs, highlighting the usefulness of these substances in halting early pathological processes of sAD and PD, respectively.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease (PD); Alzheimer's disease (AD); STZ; 6-OHDA; extracellular vesicles; metformin; gait; spatial learning/memory.

ANOTĀCIJA

Progresējošo neirodeģeneratīvo slimību izplatības pieaugošā tendence izraisa milzīgu ekonomisku un sociālu slogu valdībām, slimniekiem un to ģimenēm. Visizplatītākās neirodeģeneratīvās un joprojām neizārstējamās slimības ir sporādiskās formas Alcheimera slimība (sAS) un Pārkinsona slimība (PS).Tām abām ir raksturīgi kopīgi etiopatoģenētiski cēloņi, kas ar laiku noved līdz proteinopātijām un vēlīnu slimības sākumu, kas raksturojas ar kognitīvo spēju samazināšānos līdz pat demencei. Taču pēdējo trīsdesmit gadu pētījumi ir radījuši jaunu izpratni un nākotnes stratēģiju, kā apturēt neirodeģeneratīvo procesu attīstību, uzsākot terapiju slimības agrīnajā fāzē pirms izveidojušies neatgriezeniski smadzeņu bojājumi un mentālie traucējumi. Tādējādi terapija jāmērķē uz tiem patoloģiskajie procesiem, kas ir kopīgi un raksturīgi gan sAS, gan PS to agrīnajās stadijās: neiroiekaisumu, oksidatīvo stresu, traucētu smadzeņu glikozes un insulīna vielmaiņu.

Mūsu hipotēze balstās uz šo neironu dzīvotspējai kritisko procesu aizsardzību, lai saglabātu šūnu interkomunikācijas spējas, kas savukārt nodrošina kognitīvās un motorās funkcijas. Darbā esam izvēlējušies inovatīvu pieeju, izmantojot ekstracelulārās vezīkulas (EVs) un antihiperglikēmisko preparātu metformīnu. Šīs vielas šķērso hematoencefālisko barjeru un tām piemīt neiroprotektīvas īpašības *in vitro*, kas atļauj domāt, ka EV un metformīnam piemīt neiroprotektīvas un kognīciju uzlabojošas īpašības *in vivo*.

Iegūtie dati rāda, ka EVs intranazāla ievadīšana PS modeļžurkām normalizēja 6-OHDA-izraisītos gaitas un iemācīšanās/atmiņas traucējumus, saglabājot dopamīna sintēzes atslēgenzīma – tirozīna hidroksilāzes (TH) un Nissl ķermeņu ekspresiju nigrostriālajās struktūrās arī pēc EVs ievadīšanas pārtraukuma.

Metformīna ievadīšana sAS-tipa modeļžurkās, kas iegūtas intracerebroventrikulāri ievadot neirotoksīnu streptozocīnu (STZ), uzlaboja telpisko iemācīšanos/atmiņu un sociālo uzvedību, normalizēja STZ-izraisītās patoloģiskās izmaiņas to garozas un hipokampa proteīnu ekspresijā, kas ir iesaistīti glikozes transportā un uzņemšanā šūnās, neiroiekaisumā, sinaptiskajā plasticitātē un acetilholīna šķelšanā. Metformīns uzrādīja acetilholīnestarāzes aktivitāti inhibējošas īpašības arī *in vitro* eksperimentos.

Iegūtie dati pirmoreiz parāda EV un metformīna neiroprotektīvās un regulējošās īpašības sAS un PS modeļdzīvniekos, kas norāda uz šo vielu perspektivitāti un lietderīgumu sAS un PS agrīno stadiju patoloģisko procesu savlaicīgā apturēšanā. Atslēgas vārdi: Alcheimera slimība (AD); Pārkinsona slimība (PD); STZ; 6-OHDA; ekstracelulārās vezīkulas; metformīns; gaita; mācīšanās/atmiņa.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ANNOTATION	4
ANOTĀCIJA	6
TABLE OF CONTENTS	8
INTRODUCTION	11
ABBREVIATIONS	16
1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW	17
1.1. Ethiopathology of neurodegenerative diseases	17
1.1.1. Alzheimer's disease (AD)	17
1.1.2. Parkinson's disease (PD)	20
1.3. Impaired brain cellular processes	22
1.3.1. Neuroinflammation	
1.3.2. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction	24
1.3.3. Impairments of cerebral glucose and insulin metabolism	
1.3.5. Neurotransmitter dysfunction	
1.4. Novel therapeutic approaches to halt neurodegenerative diseases	31
1.4.1. Exosomes	
1.4.2. Glucose and insulin metabolism-regulating drugs	
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	35
2.1. Animals	35
2.2. Antibodies and chemicals	35
2.3. Experimental designs	
2.3.1. EVs efficacy in PD model-rats (EVs I study)	
2.3.2. EVs time-dependent efficacy in PD model-rats (EVs II study)	
2.3.3. Efficacy of metformin in sAD model-rats (METF study)	
2.4. Stereotactic surgeries	
2.4.1. Unilateral intra-MFB lesion	
2.4.2. Bilateral intracerebroventricular lesion	
2.5. <i>In vivo</i> assessments	
2.5.1. Behavioral tests	
2.6. Ex vivo analyses	42
2.6.1. Immunohistochemical assessment	42
2.6.2. Histochemical assessment	42

2.6.3.	Western blot analysis	43
2.6.4.	Quantification of ex vivo data	43
2.7. In v	vitro analysis	44
2.7.1.	Proteomic analysis	44
2.7.2.	Inhibition of AChE activity	44
2.8. Stat	tistical analysis	44
RESUL	TS	46
3.1. Effe	ects of EVs on rat behavior	46
3.1.1.	In the Morris water maze (MWM) test	46
3.1.2.	In the CatWalk gait test	48
3.2. Effe	ects of EVs on rat brain protein expression	52
3.2.1.	TH density and Nissl body count	52
3.3. Effe	ects of metformin on rat behavior	55
3.3.1.	In the Morris water maze (MWM) test	55
3.3.2.	In the 3-chamber sociability test	57
3.4. Effe	ects of metformin on rat brain protein density	59
3.4.1.	GFAP density	59
3.4.2.	Iba-1 positive cells	60
3.4.3.	Effects of metformin on synaptic density	61
3.4.4.	On acetycholine esterase density and activity	63
3.4.5. kinasa 3	Metformin effects on glucose transporter (GLUTs) and glycogen synthase	65
DISCUS	SSION	05
DISCU.	arkinsonian affects of EVs	08
4.1. Anupa	EVs improve animal gait and spatial memory performance impaired by 6-	08
OHDA	68	
4.1.2.	EVs reverse changes in TH expression and Nissl body count in the nigrostric	ital
structur	es	69
4.1.3.	Considerations and arguments about EVs long-term effects	/0
+.2. Me	Motformin as a possible anti-dementia drug	/1
4.2.1. sociahil	ity performance	71
4.2.2.	Metformin treatment normalizes brain glucose transport and uptake	72
4.2.3.	Metformin treatment showed anti-inflammatory effects	73
	2.6.3. 2.6.4. 2.7. In v 2.7.1. 2.7.2. 2.8. Star RESUL 3.1. Effe 3.1.1. 3.1.2. 3.2. Effe 3.2.1. 3.3. Effe 3.3.1. 3.3.2. 3.4. Effe 3.4.1. 3.4.2. 3.4.3. 3.4.4. 3.4.5. kinase-3 DISCUS 4.1. Antipa 4.1.1. OHDA 4.1.2. structure 4.1.3. 4.2. Me 4.2.1. sociabil 4.2.2. 4.2.3.	 2.6.3. Western blot analysis

4.2.4.	Metformin improves synaptic plasticity	74
4.2.5.	Metformin exhibits acetylcholine esterase inhibiting properties	75
CONCLUS	IONS	76
REFERENC	CES	77
ACKNOWI	LEDGEMENTS	92

INTRODUCTION

The actuality of the study

The prevalence of neurodegenerative disorders is increasing, partly due to the extented lifespan all over the world. The neurodegeneration involves progressive death of neuronal cells, followed by a decline in cognitive functions, finally leading to dementia. That is an alarming fact because neurodegenerative diseases are still incurable. Therefore during the last three decades, one of the trends in neurosciences is focused on neurodegenerative disorders, mostly on Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD). AD represents approximately 60-70% of dementia cases. The manifestation of AD in the vast majority of patients (around 95-99%) have late-onset and sporadic origin, i.e., sporadic AD (sAD). In contrast, only 1-5% of all cases are familial with an identified genetic predisposition (fAD).

Although a great amount of research has been done to identify the main etiopathological mechanisms involved in the neurodegeneration, an exact understanding of the dynamics of molecular interactions and factors promoting the disease progression remains elusive. Because current therapies can only delay but not halt neurodegenerative in the brain, there is an urgent necessity to find new approaches to design and use anti-neurodegenerative drugs, capable of stopping pathological events before dementia occurs.

The aim of the study

The thesis aimed to study the neuroprotective efficacy of extracellular vesicles in PD model-rats, and metformin in sporadic AD (sAD) model-rats.

Tasks of the study

To assess *in vivo* the effects of intranasally administered extracellular vesicles (EVs) in 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA)-induced PD model rats:

1.1. on motor function (gait) and learning/memory;

1.2. *ex vivo* to evaluate the influence of EVs on crucial protein expression in the nigrostriatal structures: tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the enzyme involved in dopamine synthesis, and the Nissl bodies, representing survived neurons;

1.3. to find time-dependent efficacy of EVs.

2. To determine the effects of perorally administered anti-diabetic drug metformin in streptozocin (STZ)-induced AD model-rats:

2.1. on rat spatial learning/memory and sociability performance;

2.2. *ex vivo* to evaluate metformin effects on the cortical and hippocampal density of proteins involved in:

2.2.1. microgliosis (glial fibrillary acidic protein, GFAP) and astrogliosis (ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule-1, Iba-1);

2.2.2. glucose transport protein-1 and -3 (GLUT-1 and GLUT-3), and glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3), an enzyme involved in glucose and insulin metabolism;

2.2.3. synaptic plasticity: synaptophysin-1 (SYP-1), growth-associated protein 43 (GAP43);

2.2.4. expression of AchE, an enzyme responsible for acetylcholine cleavage.

2.3. Determination of the influence on acetylcholine esterase in vitro.

3. To identify correlations between behavioral and biochemical effects of the studied compounds to understand their essential targeting properties in the pathological events.

Hypothesis

- 1. EVs can quickly enter and target the brain regions responsible for maintaining normal gait and memory functions.
- 2. Anti-hyperglycemic drug metformin provides normalization of cerebral glucose transport and metabolism and insulin signaling (GSK-3), as well as reduces neuroinflammation, thus regulating the key mechanisms to halt neurodegeneration.

Thesis for the defense

- Intranasally administered EVs may reverse 6-OHDA-induced gait impairments and improve rat spatial learning/memory performance in PD model-rats. These effects persist even after discontinuation of EVs treatment.
- **2)** EVs might normalize the expression of dopamine synthesizing enzyme TH and provide neuronal survival in the nigrostriatal structures of PD model-rats.
- **3)** Metformin possesses a regulatory/restorative effect on protein expression involved in cerebral glucose transport and uptake, neuroinflammation, synaptic plasticity, and is capable of inhibiting AChE expression and activity.

Methods

1) *In vivo:* Morris water maze test for the assessment of spatial learning and memory, three-chamber sociability test for the assessment of social interaction and social novelty preference, and CatWalk gait test to determine motor function;

2) *Ex vivo:* immunohistochemical and histochemical methods for the evaluation of brain protein expression;

3) *In vitro:* determination of the influence of metformin on acetylcholinesterase activity.

Approbation of results

Publications

I. V.Pilipenko, K. Narbute, J.Pupure, I.K.Langrate, V.Klusa. Neuroprotective potential of antihyperglycemic drug metformin in sporadic Alzheimer's disease model-rats. *Eur.J.Pharmacol.*, 2020; 881. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173290</u>.

II. K.Narbute, V.Pilipenko, J.Pupure, T.Klinovics, J.Auders, U.Jonavice, K. Kriaučiūnaitė, A.Pivoriunas. Time-dependent memory and gait improvement by intranasally-administered extracellular vesicles in Parkinson's disease model rats. Cellular and molecular neurobiology, 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-020-00865-8</u>.

III. K. Narbute, V. Pilipenko, J. Pupure, Z. Dzirkale, U.Jonavičė, V. Tunaitis, K.Kriaučiūnaitė, A.Jarmalavičiūtė, B. Jansone, V.Klusa and A.Pivoriūnas, Intranasal administration of extracellular vesicles derived from human teeth stem cells improve motor symptoms and normalize tyrosine hydroxylase expression in the substantia nigra and striatum of the 6-hydroxydopamine-treated rats. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, 2019; 8(5): p. 490-499. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0162.

Conference thesis

1. K.Narbute, V.Pilipenko, J.Pupure, T.Klinovics, J.Auders, A.Pivoriunas, V.Klusa. Influence of extracellular vesicles on motor functions and memory in 6-OHDAinduced Parkinson's disease model-rats. Advances in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's therapies: An AAT-AD/PD focus meeting, April 2-5, 2020, Vienna, Austria.

2. V.Pilipenko, K.Narbute, J.Pupure, B.Kanepe, I.K.Langrate, V.Klusa. Metformin ameliorates neuroinflammation, oxidative stress and synaptic density in sporadic Alzheimer's disease model-rats. Advances in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's therapies: An AAT-AD/PD focus meeting, April 2-5, 2020, Vienna, Austria.

3. I.K.Langrate, **K.Narbute**, V.Pilipenko, V.Kluša. Antidiabetic drug metformin improves sociability and social interaction in Alzheimer's disease model-rats. RSU International student conference, March 27-28, 2020, Riga, Latvia.

4. V. Pilipenko, K. Narbute, J. Pupure, B.Jansone, V.Klusa. Neuroprotective action of metformin, an antidiabetic compound, in Alzheimer's disease-type male rat model. 14th International Conference on Alzheimer's & Parkinson's Diseases, March 26-31, 2019, Lisbon Portugal.

5. K.Narbute, V.Pilipenko, J. Pupure, A.Pivoriūnas, B.Jansone, V.Kluša. Extracellular vesicles reverse dysfunctions in 6-OHDA-induced Parkinson's disease modelrats. International Scientific Conference on Medicine, 77th International Scientific Conference of the University of Latvia, Riga, February 22, 2019. Medicina (Kaunas) Vol. 55, Suppl.1.

6. K.Narbute, V. Pilipenko, A. Pivoriunas, B.Jansone, V. Z.Kluša. Human dental pulp stem cell-derived exosomes administered intranasally can cross the blood-brain barrier in rats.76th International Scientific Conference on Medicine of the University of Latvia. Book of Abstracts 2018 P.34.

Selection of compounds

1) Extracellular vesicles (EVs) derived from human exfoliated deciduous teeth stem cells (SHEDs) (Fig. 1);



2) Metformin, the antihyperglycemic agent of the biguanide class (Fig. 2);

Figure 1. Transmission electron microscopy of extracellular vesicles isolated from stem cells from the dental pulp of human exfoliated deciduous teeth (×30,000 magnification). A magnified image of EV is shown on the left panel (×120,000 magnification).



Figure 2. Chemical structure of metformin.

ABBREVIATIONS

AChE – acetylcholine esterase

aCSF - artificial cerebrospinal fluid

AD – Alzheimer's disease

ANOVA- analysis of variance

APP - amyloid precursor protein

AB42 – amyloid beta peptide 1-42

ATP – adenosine triphosphate

 $A\beta$ – amyloid beta protein

CA – cornu ammonis

CB – citric buffer

CNS - central nervous system

DG - dentate gyrus

fAD – familial Alzheimer's disease

GABA - gamma-aminobutyric acid

GAD67 - glutamic acid decarboxylase 67

GAP43 - growth associated protein 43

GFAP – glial fibrillary acidic protein

GLUT – glucose transporter

GSK-3 – glycogen synthase kinase-3β

Iba-1 - ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule-1

icv-intracerebroventricularly

MCI - mild cognitive impairment

MFB - medial forebrain bundle

PBS - phosphate-buffered saline

PD – Parkinson's disease

BBB - blood-brain barrier

ROS - reactive oxygen species

sAD - sporadic Alzheimer's disease

sAPP - soluble APP

SHEDs - human exfoliated deciduous teeth stem cells

SNpc – substantia nigra pars compacta

STZ - streptozocin

SYP1 – synaptophysin 1

1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

1.1. Ethiopathology of neurodegenerative diseases

Neurodegenerative diseases are one of the leading causes of incurable and debilitating conditions worldwide that cause dementia-related disabilities. These complex diseases are mainly age-associated. Their prevalence is rapidly increasing, in part because the proportion of the geriatric population has increased in past years and will continue to expand in the next decades due to the increasing life span (Mahishale, 2015). Neurodegeneration is characterized by loss of neuronal population throughout the brain and synaptic dystrophy with subsequent cognitive impairments and movement disorders. The most common neurodegenerative diseases are Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Although currently, the exact etiology of these diseases remains elusive, early manifestations have been linked to genetic predisposition, impairments in glucose metabolism, neuroinflammation and epigenetic factors (Millan, 2014).

1.1.1. Alzheimer's disease (AD)

AD is a multifactorial progressive and until this day irreversible neurocognitive disease. It is the most common form of neurodegenerative dementia (Liu et al., 2018). AD prevalence tends to increase by age and the incidence is higher in women than in men. It is estimated that 50 million people worldwide are diagnosed with dementia, and this number will likely triple by 2050 (Mendiola-Precoma et al., 2016). Although AD was first characterized more than 100 years ago in 1908 by German physician Alois Alzheimer, the exact mechanism of AD remains unknown. At that time, Alois Alzheimer described AD as a progressive cognitive disorder with local neurological symptoms, psychological, and social disability. In the brain biopsy, he found senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles. Unfortunately, clinical staging of the disease still cannot be definitively diagnosed, since AD pathology can only be determined in post mortem by neuropathological evaluation (Murphy and Levine, 2010). Therefore, despite the scientific progress towards understanding the cellular and molecular bases of AD, therapies that effectively halt the progression of AD are still lacking. Currently, available treatments are designed only to improve clinical symptoms rather than to stop the progress of the disease. In the 1970s, the cholinergic system was the main pharmacotherapeutic target, and the use of anticholinesterases is still recommended. Around the 1980s, dysfunction in the glutamatergic system became as dominant, and a lot of glutamate receptor antagonists were

designed and tested. Since the 1980s, the research is focusing on targeting misfolded proteins and their fragments, such as amyloid protein and its amyloid-beta (A β) 1-42 fragment and tau protein. However, data from recent years show that this theory is also incomplete and requires many corrections.

1.1.1.1. Familial Alzheimer's disease (fAD)

Familial early-onset AD (fAD) affects individuals between 30 and 50 years old and generally accounts for a small proportion of all cases – approximately 1-5% (Frozza et al., 2018). Pathogenesis of fAD is associated with the so-called "amyloid cascade" (Fig.3.) with mutations either in the *amyloid precursor protein (APP)* or in presenilin genes: *presenilin-1* (PS1) or *presenilin-2* (PS2), that eventually leads to synaptic loss and cognitive decline. Through this amyloidogenic pathway, different A β fragments are formed, of which the most toxic is larger, hydrophobic, and highly fibrillogenic A β 1-42 peptide (A β 42). These can cause severe neuronal toxicity, disruption in synaptic transmission, neuroinflammation, and impaired cognition. Thus, two hallmark pathologies are used for diagnosing AD: the density of extracellular A β 1-42 plaque deposits and intracellular hyperphosphorylated neurofibrillary



Figure 3. Amyloid cascade of Alzheimer's disease. Adapted from (Singh et al., 2016).

Although the amyloid cascade hypothesis was governing for about 20-30 years, the last decade studies have challenged this theory by showing an almost complete failure of therapies designed to target A β clearance. Several studies have shown that A β accumulation

in the brain does not correlate with neuronal death and cognitive deficits. Moreover, different pharmacological and immunological (e.g. using passive immunization with monoclonal antibodies, such as solanezumab and crenezumab) approaches and clinical trials have found that dissolving the amyloid plagues, did not correlate with the improvement of cognitive performance and/or stop in synaptic loss (Prins and Scheltens, 2013). Furthermore, with the help of novel imaging systems,—it was shown that in elderly non-demented patients, accumulated amyloid distribution can be as extensive as that of AD patients. In this context, pharmacological studies by the use of transgenic mice may represent the human pathology only partially (Kametani and Hasegawa, 2018; Ricciarelli and Fedele, 2017).

1.1.1.2. Sporadic AD (sAD)

The vast majority (95-99%) of all AD cases are a late-onset or sporadic form of AD that occurs in individuals over 65 years of age, however pathological processes of asymptomatic preclinical AD start up to 20 years before clinical manifestation. Although amyloidosis is not considered to be specifically connected to sAD, progressive A β accumulation can occur in later phases of the disease (Singh et al., 2016). The prodromal AD stage is characterized by short-term memory loss without affecting everyday life. Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a state between "normal aging" and a demented state. It is characterized by mild memory impairments and non-cognitive symptoms, such as anxiety, apathy, and depression (Chung and Cummings, 2000). MCI is a predictive indicator of developing AD, but not all patients develop AD.

Several factors have been identified which are associated with AD progression, and they to a great extent are linked with epigenetic factors characterized by deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) modifications that modulate gene expression but don't influence the genetic code. These modifications include anomalies in DNA methylation, DNA demethylation, chromatin remodeling, and histone post-translational modifications. For instance, inhibition of DNA methylation has detrimental effects on histone modifications and synaptic plasticity in both AD and PD (Landgrave-GÃ³mez et al., 2015), that in turn, impairs cerebral glucose metabolism, neuroinflammation, impaired synaptic transmission, and neurotransmitter imbalance. Studies showed that neurodegenerative processes promote the decrease in neuroprotective gene expressions, such as *forkhead box O3 (FOXO)*, which mediates oxidative stress resistance, anti-apoptotic *BCL2*, as well as the gene for expression of *brain*- *derived neurotropic factor (BDNF)*, which is critical for learning and memory (Berson et al., 2018). Moreover, these processes can be affected by environmental factors (e.g., nutrition, exercise, drugs).

Current knowledge indicates that most effective therapy could be focused on early predementia stages of sAD, and new disease-modifying drugs should be found (Frozza et al., 2018).

1.1.2. Parkinson's disease (PD)

The second most common age-related neurodegenerative disease is PD. Although sAD PD have common etiopathological causes linked to late-onset progressive and proteinopathies, these diseases exhibit distinctive characteristics and symptoms. PD typically affects people over 60 years of age, and the prevalence increases over the age of 85. The prevalence is higher among men than women (proportion 1.5 to 1.0). The exact causes of PD pathology remain obscure. It is taken as proved that main cause for PD is the loss of dopamine synthesizing neurons in the nigrostriatal structures, accumulation of Lewy bodies (LB) or Lewy neurites (LN) throughout the brain, composed of misfolded α -synuclein protein which tends to form a fibrillary, β -pleated sheet conformation and bind other proteins, such as synphilin-1, parkin, and antiapoptotic chaperone. β-pleated sheet formation of aggregated α -synuclein is also found in AD brains (Rizek et al., 2016). Dopamine neuronal cell bodies are generally located in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) regions with axonal projections to caudate nucleus and putamen. Dysbalance between decreased dopaminergic activity and increased cholinergic activity results in motor impairment (muscle rigidity, tremor, and bradykinesia) and non-motor symptoms (cognitive impairment, depression and sleep disorders). Motor symptoms are evident after about 50% of the dopaminergic neurons, and 75% of striatal dopamine is lost. The manifestation of non-motor symptoms is evidently linked to disbalance in other neurotransmitter systems, such as serotoninergic, noradrenergic, and cholinergic (Perez-Lloret and Barrantes, 2016). Although only a small number of PD patients are associated with genetically inherited diseases, mutations in one or more of three genes have been identified to be associated with the genetic form of PD. They are SNCA gene that codes α -synuclein protein, parkin, and ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1). The severity of the disease varies depending on

disease phenotype and age of onset. Taking into account that genetic or familial form of PD is only accountable for approximately 1% of all cases, α -synuclein aggregation is also associated with the disease's sporadic form. Usually, α -synuclein degradation undergoes direct proteolysis, autophagy, and proteosome-mediated degradation. Failure in any of these steps results in the accumulation and aggregation of α -synuclein in neurons.

Moreover, mutations in the *SNCA* gene also is a major risk factor of pathological accumulation of misfolded α -synuclein oligomers. Using experimental models of PD, researchers have suggested that α -synuclein selective degeneration of dopaminergic neurons is accomplished *via* elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), preferential expression of parkin and α -synuclein in these neurons and lack of calbindin D_{28K} (know as calcium homeostasis maintaining and neuronal death preventing protein) (Steece-Collier et al., 2002). It is confirmed by several studies that environmental factors have an even stronger influence on PD etiopathology. Contaminated water with heavy metals and pesticides, such as rotenone and paraquat, is the main environmental risk factor of developing PD. These pesticides are known to impair the mitochondrial respiration chain and by causing oxidative stress (Ascherio and Schwarzschild, 2016).

Despite the massive amount of research directed to identifying the key neurodegenerative mechanisms involved in the PD's pathogenesis, this disease is still not curable. Currently, available therapies are only symptomatic, partially effective, and focused on the reduction of dopamine deficiency (e.g., by the usage of dopamine precursor, dopamine agonists, inhibition of dopamine cleaving enzymes). Similarly, as in AD, also PD treatment needs new therapeutic strategies.

1.3. Impaired brain cellular processes

1.3.1. Neuroinflammation

The early progression of neurodegenerative diseases has been linked to neuroinflammatory mechanisms. The term neuroinflammation defines the inflammatory processes of the central nervous system (CNS), involving overactivated glial cells (astrocytes and microglial cells). However, the question of whether the neuroinflammation is a cause or a consequence of neurodegeneration, remains unanswered (Guzman-Martinez et al., 2019).

Typically, glial cells have a fundamental role in maintaining brain homeostasis. Thus, microglial cells are the primary resident immune cells in the brain, wherein physiological and pathological conditions regulate astrocytes. Microglia exhibit a resting phenotype. They continuously scan their surrounding microenvironment and are major players providing synaptic plasticity (also synaptic pruning) by releasing neurotrophic and anti-inflammatory factors (Streit, 2002). Thus in acute inflammation stage due to the presence of pathogens or tissue damage, glial cells become activated and communicate by releasing a wide range of molecules, such as neurotrophic factors, cytokines, chemokines, growth factors. The mutual communication between both types of glial cells generates reciprocal modulation for various lesions in the CNS. In early AD phases microglia and astrocytes are also able to bind to and accumulate around AB oligomers and AB fibrils, release pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines and phagocyte them, thus acting as a neuroprotective mechanism (Bouvier and Murai, 2015). However, the sustained release of inflammatory molecules affects neurons, stimulates further production of $A\beta$, and induce more activation of microgliosis (Glass et al., 2010). Overactivated astrocytes release the factors that change the BBB's permeability, resulting in the migration of immune cells into the brain parenchyma. Pathogens such as bacteria, viruses, endogenous proteins, antibodies, cytokines, and chemokines, including toll-like receptors (TLRs) and receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE), activate microglia and compromise brain homeostasis (Shastri et al., 2013). Activated microglia then regulate the expression of different surface markers, such as the major histocompatibility complex II (MHC-II) and receptors for identifying pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which produce proinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukins (IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12), interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), as well as cytotoxic factors, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), superoxide radicals (O_2) and nitric oxide (NO), resulting in neuronal damage and subsequent neurodegeneration. A simplified neuroinflammatory process is shown in Figure 4.

Since the 1990s, it has been proposed that usage of anti-inflammatory agents and the reduction of inflammation could improve the outcome of neurodegenerative diseases (Moore et al., 2010). Unfortunately, only high doses and long-term administration of COX inhibitors or glucocorticoids slightly improved cognition and slow the progression of neurodegeneration. In addition, the treatment was followed by typical for these drug's side-

effects. Several pre-clinical studies with anti-inflammatory/antioxidant agents, such as curcumin, resveratrol, have shown memory-improving properties, while non of these agents have shown considerable effectiveness (Moore et al., 2010; Walker and Lue, 2007).



Figure 4. The simplified neuroinflammatory process that leads to neurodegeneration. Adapted from (Jung et al., 2019).

1.3.2. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction

Mitochondria are very dynamic organelles that continuously undergo continuous fission and fusion, the equilibrium that regulates not only the number of mitochondria but also their functions, such as energy metabolism and production, Ca²⁺ signaling, ROS production and apoptosis (Chen et al., 2007). Mitochondria generate about 90% of needed cell energy, mostly in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Production of ATP requires aerobic, enzymemediated reactions through the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC). During this oxidative phosphorylation, electrons are transferred from electron donors to electron acceptors. In eukaryotic cells, these electrons are carried out by five different protein complexes. The released energy by ETC is used by complexes I, III and IV, to transport protons from the mitochondrial matrix to intermembrane space. The complex V then synthesizes ATP from adenosine diphosphate (Mancuso et al., 2006). It is estimated that in healthy mitochondria, about 2% of consumed oxygen is turned into ROS, and their amount is much higher in aged and damaged mitochondria. Increased production of superoxide (O_2) , hydroxyl (OH) and hydrogen (H) radicals cause unrepaired damage to mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) which leads to increased oxidative stress, cellular damage and genomic instability (Islam, 2017). Undoubtedly, oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction are involved in the onset of age-related neurodegenerative diseases. It has been suggested that mutations in AD- and PD-associated genes can directly damage mitochondria by impairing the activity of respiratory complexes, causing oxidative damage and consequently causing synaptic dysfunction (X. Wang et al., 2009). Several mutations in mtDNA genes are involved in the progression of neurodegenerative diseases (Horvath et al., 2007). All the mentioned above impairments interact and promote neurodegenerative processes (Fig.5).



Figure 5. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) mediated neurodegeneration. Adapted from (Federico et al., 2012).

1.3.3. Impairments of cerebral glucose and insulin metabolism

In the past decade, AD has been linked to metabolic dysfunctions. The human brain is the most glucose-consuming organ in our body. Most of the energy is used to generate action and postsynaptic potentials and neurotransmitter biosynthesis (Spinelli et al., 2019). Therefore, it is not a surprise that one of the earliest hallmarks of neurodegenerative diseases is impaired cerebral glucose metabolism and insulin signaling, that leads to early cellular damage, associated with neuroinflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress and impaired synaptic transmission (Athauda and Foltynie, 2016; de la Monte, 2017). Although numerous glucose transporters (GLUTs 1-14) are identified, only several of them are found in the brain. Glucose is transported through the BBB endothelial cells and in astrocytes *via* GLUT-1 in an insulin-insensitive manner and uptaken into neurons *via* GLUT-3 (Shah et al., 2012). GLUT-2 is predominantly expressed in the hypothalamus that regulates food intake, whereas GLUT-4 is found to be expressed in astrocytes, hippocampus, cerebellum and neocortex, indicating GLUTs role in glucose uptake in neurons (Sankar et al., 2002).

Interestingly, insulin stimulates GLUT-4 gene expression and protein transport from the cytosol to the plasma membrane thus modulates glucose uptake and utilization. Reduced GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 densities have been reported in the brains of AD patients. The membrane expression of GLUT-3 is regulated by AMP-kinase, and it was shown that $A\beta$ inhibits AMP-kinase activity, suggesting one another mechanism as potential glucose inhibition in AD brain (Lin et al., 2016; Prapong et al., 2002).

The main functions of insulin and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) in the brain are to modulate neuronal and synaptic plasticity processes, including growth and survival, protein synthesis, gene expression and neurotransmitter function, thus engaging in the maintenance of cognitive functioning (de la Monte and Wands, 2005). Insulin and IGF realize their biological effects through tyrosine kinase-linked receptors. Insulin receptor substrates (IRS-1 and IRS-2) are involved in signal transmission from IGF and insulin receptors through different intracellular pathways, including phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) /protein kinase B (AKT) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (Fig.6).

IRS signaling pathways seem to be especially important in normal brain functioning, and the altered IRS-1 and IRS-2 pathway regulation are found in AD brains and AD modelanimals. IRS-1 positively influences cognitive processes by increasing synaptic plasticity, whereas IRS-2 acts opposingly. Activated mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway leads to aggregation of misfolded proteins and impaired autophagy-mediated cell death. AD and PD pathologies are highly associated with brain insulin resistance (IR). Oxidative stress accompanied by IR promotes dysregulation of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism (especially elevated levels of 4-hydroxy 2- nonenal, thus increasing activation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta (GSK- 3β) and impairing anti-apoptotic signaling and mitochondrial function (de la Monte, 2017).

Molecular links between impaired glucose metabolism and insulin signaling in AD and diabetes suggests the possibility for novel therapeutic strategies for AD using antidiabetic drugs. It has been reported that intracerebroventricular administration of insulin improved rat performance in cognitive tests, and injections of insulin in the hippocampus at physiological doses improved rat spatial memory via PI3K-dependent mechanism (Spinelli et al., 2019). Furthermore, intranasal administration of insulin enhances memory and performance in healthy patients without modifying glucose or insulin levels in the blood (BENEDICT, 2004). Moreover, clinical trials have demonstrated that intranasal insulin improves memory

performance and the brain's metabolic integrity in patients suffering from AD or its prodromal stage, with mild cognitive impairment (Freiherr et al., 2013).



Figure 6. Insulin signaling and neuroplasticity-modulating pathway. IR , insulin receptor; IRS-1 and IRS-2, IR substrate 1 and 2; PI3K, phoshoinositide-3 kinase B; AKT, protein kinase B; mTOR, target of rapamycin; GSK3β, glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta; GRB2, growth factor receptor-bound protein 2; SOS, son of sevenless; RAS, rat sarcoma GTPase protein; MAPK, mitogen activated protein kinase; FOXO, forkhead box O transcription factor; CREB, cAMP response element-binding protein. Adapted from (Spinelli et al., 2019).

1.3.5. Neurotransmitter dysfunction

1.3.5.1. Cholinergic and dopaminergic transmission

The primary neurotransmitters which activate basal ganglia (striatum, globus pallidus, subthalamic nucleus, and substantia nigra) are dopamine (DA) and acetylcholine (Ach). The dysfunction in their transmission are associated with pathological conditions. Ach is widely distributed in cerebral areas, such as the cortex, prefrontal cortex, primary motor cortex, nucleus accumbens, and hippocampus. The cholinergic system is involved in numerous vital physiological processes, such as memory formation, learning, sensory information, and attention (Xu et al., 2012). A considerable amount of evidence exists, suggesting that cholinergic transmission plays an essential role in the pathological mechanisms of AD and PD. The loss of cholinergic neurons (especially in the basal forebrain) and consequent dysfunction of dopaminergic transmission are thought to be the main factors underlying AD-PD-related neuropsychiatric symptoms (e.g. depression, delusions. and apathy). Dysfunctioned cholinergic transmission and degeneration of the neurons from the nucleus basalis of Meynert (NBM) are associated with memory loss in AD patients (Medeiros et al., 2011; Meyer et al., 2009).

DA receptors activate different signaling cascades depending on which G-protein they activate. For instance, DA-1 and DA-2 receptors modulate synaptic plasticity and cognition via elevation of cAMP and protein kinase A (PKA), phosphorylation of dopamine- and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein-32 (DARPP-32) and modulation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and cAMP response element (CREB) (Neve et al., 2004). DAergic neurons in the substantia nigra (SN) and ventral tegmental area (VTA) and their projections to the striatal area are pivotal in maintaining motor functions and learning performance. When PD is diagnosed, approximately 70% of DAergic neurons are already degenerated, resulting in motor deficits. However, human *post mortem* studies have shown that cholinergic neurons also have critically degenerated.

A considerable amount of evidence has shown significant dopaminergic-cholinergic and dopaminergic-glutamatergic interactions, which play a vital role in learning and memory (El-Ghundi et al., 2007). It is shown that activation of presynaptic nicotinic Ach receptors can regulate the release of striatal DA via PKC (Soliakov and Wonnacott, 2001).

Cholinesterase inhibitors, such as galantamine and rivastigmine, increase Ach levels in the synaptic cleft and partially ameliorate cognitive symptoms. Nevertheless, these drugs cannot alter disease progression and are effective only for a relatively short period of time (1-3 years) (H. Ferreira-Vieira et al., 2016). Therapies that are concentrated on DA replacement, such as DA-precursor L-DOPA or DA agonists are only effective against motor symptoms (rigidity, tremor, bradykinesia) and, unfortunately, cause well-known side effects (dyskinesias and movement fluctuations), and even impairs cognitive processes (Ferrazolli et al., 2016).

1.3.5.2. Glutamatergic transmission

One another factor involved in neurodegenerative diseases is the impaired glutamatergic system. Excitatory neurotransmission of glutamate is realized through N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors. Normally, glutamate regulates calcium ion (Ca²⁺) influx, thus controlling motor and cognitive functions. Unfortunately, these functions are altered in age and AD. When NMDA receptors become extensively overactivated, resulting in Ca²⁺ excitotoxicity and cell death (Wang and Reddy, 2017). NMDA receptor antagonist memantine is currently used to to regulate glutamate transmission symptomatically. Unfortunately, it cannot improve cognitive performance and slow the progression of neurodegeneration.

1.3.5.3. GABAergic transmission

Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) is the main inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain, and equilibrium between excitatory glutamatergic and inhibitory GABAergic systems is essential in maintaining brain homeostasis. Recently, the impaired transmission of GABA has been linked to the progression of AD. Thus emerging evidence suggests that GABA plays an important role in reducing excitotoxicity (Mazzone and Nistri, 2019). *Post mortem* biochemical assessment of AD patients' brains revealed significantly lower levels of GABA, indicating impaired GABAergic neuronal transmission and deficient synaptic function in this disease (ROSSOR et al., 1982).

Recent studies have shown that very low doses of GABA-A and GABA-B receptor agonists improve spatial learning/memory and reduce neuroinflammation in a rat model of sAD (Pilipenko et al., 2019b, 2018). These findings may open new avenues in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

1.4. Novel therapeutic approaches to halt neurodegenerative diseases

The prevalence of neurodegenerative diseases is steadily increasing and, despite the great effort put on to finding new therapeutics, almost every new target has suffered a failure. Thus the new disease-modifying therapeutic approach is urgently needed. Advances in modern neurosciences allow suggesting that the simultaneous multi-targeted regulation of all cellular events, such as neuroinflammation, glucose/insulin signaling and synaptic plasticity, could be promising a beneficial in stopping the neuropathological processes at an early stage of the AD and PD.

1.4.1. Exosomes

Exosomes were first described almost 40 years ago, and initially, their function was thought to be removing unneeded intracellular proteins (James R. Edgar, 2016). Exosomes are nano-sized (30-150 nm) membranous vesicles that are secreted by almost all cell types and found in bodily fluids, such as blood, saliva, CSF, and urine (Crenshaw et al., 2018). They originate from late endosomes fusing and forming multivesicular bodies (MVB). Within MVB, intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) are formed by the invagination of late endosomal membranes while enclosing cytosolic components, such as lipids, proteins, coding and noncoding RNA and even DNA. Although exosomal content differs due to their different ancestry cells, it has been proven that ILVs formation requires the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT)-machinery to sort-out which proteins include (Henne et al., 2011). MVB can fuse with lysosomes for degradation, but most of them fuse with the plasma membrane and are released into the extracellular space. These vesicles are referred to as exosomes (Fig.7) (Minciacchi et al., 2015). A plethora of research studies on exosome CNS functions suggests that exosomes are involved in cell-to-cell communication, participate in the modulation of neuroprotective and regenerative processes, and mediate synaptic plasticity (Holm et al., 2018). Noteworthy, exosomes can cross biological barries, including the BBB. Their cargo properties could explain these positive abilities. Exosomes can attach to other cells and release their cargo by a range of different adhesion molecules, such as tetraspanins, integrins, and CD11b/CD18 receptors and annexins (Théry et al., 2006).



Figure 7. Schematic representation of exosome biogenesis. Adapted from (Zhou et al., 2016).

Exosomes derived from neurons are suggested to act as carriers of signaling proteins involved in synaptic plasticity. Under inflammatory response, astrocyte-produced exosomes release synapsin-1, a molecule involved in increasing neurite outgrowth, thus increasing neuronal survival (Wang et al., 2011). Moreover, exosomes carry proteins that can reduce neuronal oxidative stress, such as superoxide dismutase-1 and catalase (Holm et al., 2018).

Exosome implementation in CNS disease research is a new avenue in therapeutics – specific, effective and without serious side effects. *In vitro* study showed that exosomes can rescue human dopaminergic neurons from 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA)-induced apoptosis (Jarmalavičiūtė et al., 2015). Exosome treatment also suppressed neuroinflammation and reduced cognitive impairments after traumatic brain injury (Kim et al., 2016) and after status epilepticus in mice (Long et al., 2017). Our recent studies showed that intranasally-administered exosomes derived from human deciduous stem cells can reverse gait impairments and reduce the loss of tyrosine hydroxylase expression (Narbute et al., 2019), improve learning/memory performance and preserve neuronal survival in substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) region even two weeks after discontinuation of exosome treatment in the 6-OHDA-induced model-rats (Narbute et al., 2020).

Due to their small size and ability to cross biological barriers, exosomes have been massively studied as drug cargo molecules. Exosomes loaded with anti-inflammatory agents, such as curcumin, can target damaged cells and reduce lipopolysaccharide-induced neuroinflammation in mice by reducing IL-6 and TNF- α expression (Sun et al., 2010; Zhuang et al., 2011). Intranasally administered exosomes loaded with catalase provided neuroprotective effects in PD model animals by specifically reducing oxidative stress and cell death in SNpc neurons (Haney et al., 2013). Macrophage-derived exosomes filled with catalase, messenger RNA, NF- κ B, were capable of effectively transporting their cargo to target cells in PD-model mice, resulting in *de novo* protein synthesis and reduced neuroinflammation. Interestingly, the expression of catalase and anti-inflammatory effects in the target tissue remained even 40 days after the last administration of exosomes (Xin et al., 2013).

Exosomes have been also studied as specific biomarkers in AD and PD. It has been reported that it is possible to detect neural α -synuclein content in blood plasma by using anticell adhesion molecule L1 (L1CAM) antibodies and these results are associated with the severity of the disease, thus serve as a specific and sensitive biomarker (Shi et al., 2014). Undoubtedly, exosomes as diagnostic markers will open a new chapter in clinical diagnostic approaches, but, unfortunately, they are not used as specific biomarkers for diagnostics yet.

Exosome therapy opens a new perspective in neurodegenerative disease treatment (Yuan et al., 2019), however, further studies are needed to identify all pros and cons. In the future exosomes could be engineered as specific target molecules, with only desired therapeutic molecules to minimize possible safety hazards (Jarmalavičiūtė and Pivoriūnas, 2016).

1.4.2. Glucose and insulin metabolism-regulating drugs

A relationship between AD and diabetes, which characterizes impaired cerebral glucose and insulin metabolism, has been detected in the early stages of sAD (Lin et al., 2016). Moreover, previously studied antidiabetic drugs that target insulin-dependent mechanisms, such as thiazolidinediones and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) agonists have demonstrated cognition-enhancing, anti-neuroinflammatory and glucose metabolism-improving effects in sAD mouse-model (Tumminia et al., 2018). There is growing evidence that anti-
hyperglycemic biguanide class drug metformin possesses antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and anti-apoptotic properties and it could reverse the progression of neurodegeneration in AD and PD patients (Rotermund et al., 2018). Metformin is the safest and most widely used antidiabetic drug to treat Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Importantly, high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) study showed that metformin can rapidly cross the BBB and reach several brain regions (Łabuzek et al., 2010). Its effects have been explained through AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK)-dependent and AMPK-independent mechanisms. Metformin inhibits complex I, activates AMPK signaling, and thus indirectly acts on the mTOR pathway. Through this pathway, metformin reduces ROS production. The AMPKindependent routes include the inhibition of the PI3K/AKT pathway, targeting transcription factors (Rotermund et al., 2018). Knowing that the mTOR pathway is widely studied as one of the main factors underlying neurodegenerative diseases, the ability of metformin to target the mTOR pathway indirectly, is one of the reasons to consider metformin as a promising new therapeutic agent against AD and PD (Rotermund et al., 2018). Metformin reduced overall inflammation by lowering levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and microgliosis in a mouse model of PD (Ismaiel et al., 2016). It also reduced inflammation and protected against hippocampal cell death in a diabetic mouse model that is explained by the enhancement of the activity of transcription factors Fox-1 and NeuN (Oliveira et al., 2016). Several studies have suggested that the positive effects of metformin are due to its regulatory effect on glucose and insulin metabolism (Campbell et al., 2018; Lin et al., 2018). There is a report about metformin treatment followed by improved cognition, reduced hyperphosphorylated tau and enhanced autophagy in a mouse model of diabetes (Chen et al., 2016).

In a transgenic mouse model of diabetic dyslipidemia, metformin treatment improved cognitive outcome in one study (Chen et al., 2016), but had no effect in another study (Li et al., 2012). Several studies have shown that metformin has no effect on high-fat diet-induced cognitive deficits in rats and mice (Lennox et al., 2014; McNeilly et al., 2012; Thangthaeng et al., 2017). In a MPTP-induced PD mouse model, metformin treatment reversed TH⁺ neuron loss in nigrostriatal structures (Kang et al., 2017) and reduced astrogliosis (Katila et al., 2017). Although, the effects of metformin on cognitive performance in AD patients are controversial (Moore et al., 2013), metformin effects have never been studied in sAD model-animals before. Metformin effects in sAD model-animals have first been studied by our team. We demonstrated that metformin improved rat spatial learning/memory and sociability

performance and regulated the expression of proteins involved in cerebral glucose and insulin metabolism, reduced neuroinflammation and increased the expression of proteins responsible for synaptic plasticity (Pilipenko et al., 2020).

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Animals

Male Wistar rats (280 ± 20 g, 9 weeks old) were used in all experiments. For the study on EVs efficacy in PD model-rats (EVs-I), animals were obtained from the State Research Institute Centre for Innovative Medicine Laboratory animals breeding house, Vilnius, Lithuania. For the study on time-dependent EVs efficacy and for the metformin study, animals were bought from the Laboratory Animal Center, University of Tartu, Estonia. All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering and to reduce the number of animals used. The experiments were conducted in accordance with the EU Directive 2010/63/EU and local laws and policies on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes. Animal protocol for this study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Food and Veterinary Service, Riga, Latvia. Rats were housed in individually ventilated two-level cages (GR1800, Tecniplast, Italy) with controlled laboratory environment (temperature $22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C, humidity 55-65%, 12/12 h light/dark cycle (lights on at 8:00 and off at 20:00), 4 rats per polypropylypelene cage with maintenance diet (V535-000, Ssniff, Germany) and tap water provided *ad libitum*. Red polycarbonate cylinders, aspen bedding, and aspen chewing blocks were provided for each cage as environmental enrichments.

2.2. Antibodies and chemicals

The following chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (USA): 3,3'diaminobenzidine (DAB, D5905), 5,5'-dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB, D8130), 6-OHDA (H116), acetylcholine esterase (C2888-500UN), acetylthiocholine iodide (01480), mouse anti-GFAP antibody (G3893), rabbit anti-GSK-3 α/β antibody (SAB4501330), mouse anti-SYP-1 antibody (S6758), mouse anti-TH antibody (T2928), apomorphine (A4393-1G), DPX mountant (06522), Triton X-100 (X100), cresyl violet acetate (C5042), ethopropazine (E5406), Mayer's hematoxylin solution (MHS16), neostigmine bromide, radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (R0278), STZ (S0130). Copper sulfate (102790), metformin (317240), potassium hexacyanoferrate III (104973), and sodium citrate (106448) were purchased from Merck Millipore (USA). Rabbit anti-Iba-1 antibody (019-19741) was supplied by Wako (Japan). S-acetylthiocholine iodide (A16802) and nickel ammonium sulfate hexahydrate (12519) were purchased from Alfa Aesar (USA). The

following reagents were obtained from Abcam (USA): rabbit anti-GLUT-1 antibody (ab652), rabbit anti-GLUT-3 antibody (ab15311), and goat anti-rabbit immunoglobulins (ab205718). Collagenase type I (17018029), goat anti-mouse Ig (31430), goat anti-rabbit Ig (31460), No-StainTM protein labeling reagent (A44449), phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, 10010031), PierceTM ECL Western blotting substrate (32209) and SuperBlockTM blocking solution (37515) were supplied by ThermoFisher Scientific (USA). Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM, F0415), amphotericin B (A2612), and penicillin/streptomycin mixture (A2212) were bought from Biochrom (Germany). Applichem (Germany) provided 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and protease inhibitor cocktail (A7779). MSC Nutrichem® XF was supplied by Biological Industries (Israel). 0.02% ascorbic acid (Asc) solution and sodium citrate buffer (CB, pH 4.5) was prepared *ex tempore*. Apomorphine was dissolved in 0.9% saline before the injections.

2.3. Experimental designs

2.3.1. EVs efficacy in PD model-rats (EVs I study)

Experimental design is shown in Figure 8. The rats were randomly divided into four groups (n=8):

- aCSF (intra-MFB) + PBS (i.n.);
- aCSF (intra-MFB) + EVs (i.n.);
- 6-OHDA (intra-MFB) + PBS (i.n.);
- 6-OHDA (intra-MFB) + EVs (i.n.).

Each EVs dose contained 2,67 x 10^7 vesicles (in 12 µl of PBS), thus overall, for 15 days each rat received a total of 180 µl EV solution containing approximately 40×10^7 EVs.



Figure 8. Experimental design of EVs efficacy in a PD model-rats study. 6-OHDA, 6-hydroxydopamine; IHC, immunohistochemistry.

2.3.2. EVs time-dependent efficacy in PD model-rats (EVs II study)

Experimental design of this study is shown in Figure 9. Rats were randomly divided into six groups. Accordingly, EVs, or phosphate buffered saline (PBS), as control were administered intranasally (i.n.) for 17 consecutive days (at 9:00 in the morning).

Experimental groups were following:

- Ascorbic acid, Asc (intra-MFB) + PBS (i.n.) (n=12);
- Asc (intra-MFB) + EVs (i.n.), n=8;
- 6-OHDA (intra-MFB) + PBS (i.n.), n=12;
- 6-OHDA (intra-MFB) + EVs (i.n.), n=12;
- 6-OHDA (intra-MFB) + PBS (i.n.) + 2-week non-treatment period (n=12);
- 6-OHDA (intra-MFB) + EVs (i.n.) + 2-week non-treatment period (n=12).

Each EVs dose contained 3 x 10^8 vesicles (in 10 µl of PBS), thus overall, for 17 days each rat received a total of 170 µl EV solution containing approximately 51×10^8 EVs.



Figure 9. Experimental design of EVs time-dependent efficacy in PD model-rats. MFB, medial forebrain bundle; CW, CatWalk gait test; APO, apomorphine; MWM, Morris water maze.

2.3.3. Efficacy of metformin in sAD model-rats (METF study)

The experimental design is shown in Fig. 10. Briefly, rats were randomly assigned to one of the six experimental groups (n=9-10) and received either saline (1 ml/kg) or metformin (METF, 75 or 100 mg/kg) perorally (p.o.) using gastric gavage for 21 consecutive days starting 2 days after i.c.v. administration of STZ or citric buffer (CB, pH 4.0):

- CB i.c.v. + saline 1 ml/kg p.o. (control group, n=9)
- STZ i.c.v. + saline 1 ml/kg p.o. (lesion group, n=10)
- CB i.c.v. + metformin 75 mg/kg p.o. (n=9)
- CB i.c.v. + metformin 100 mg/kg p.o. (n=9)

- STZ i.c.v. + metformin 75 mg/kg p.o. (n=10)
- STZ i.c.v. + metformin 100 mg/kg p.o. (n=10)



Figure 10. Experimental design of metformin (METF) study in sAD model-rats. CB, citrate buffer; STZ, streptozocin; METF, metformin; MWM, Morris water maze.

2.4. Stereotactic surgeries

2.4.1. Unilateral intra-MFB lesion

On experimental day 1 in the EVs I and EVs II studies, 30 min before the induction of general anesthesia, rats received imipramine (20 mg/kg) to protect adrenergic neurons against the development of 6-OHDA-induced lesions. The animals were anesthetized with isoflurane (3-3.5% for induction and 2% for maintenance) and placed on a stereotaxic frame (Stoelting Inc., USA). Unilateral 6-OHDA (20 μ g in 3 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid) or solvent (control, 5 μ l) were injected intra-MFB during stereotaxic surgery using the following coordinates: -4.4 mm anteroposterior, +1.1 mm mediolateral, and -8.0 mm dorsoventral relative to the bregma, using a 27-gauge needle attached to a 50 μ l microsyringe (Hamilton, USA). Injection flow was controlled using an electronic pump (WPI, USA) at a rate of 1 μ l/min. The microsyringe needle was left in the injection site for 5 min after each injection to avoid drug reflux.

2.4.2. Bilateral intracerebroventricular lesion

On experimental day 1 of the METF study, surgery was performed for an i.c.v. injection of either STZ or CB. Briefly, animals were anesthetized with isoflurane (3 - 3.5%) in 70% N₂O/30% O₂ for induction and 2% in 50% N₂O/50% O₂ for maintenance. Animals were then fixed on a stereotaxic frame (Stoelting Inc., USA). Two holes were drilled in the skull above both lateral ventricles using the following coordinates (Paxinos and Watson, 2007): -0.7 mm anterioposterior, 1.7 mm mediolateral and -4.0 mm dorsoventral relative to bregma. Using Hamilton microsyringe, STZ was injected bilaterally (750 µg/10 µl in CB for each rat) at 1 µl/min and 5 µl per ventricle. Control group received bilateral injections of CB (10 µl for each rat). Injection flow was controlled using an electronic pump (WPI, USA) at a rate of 1 µl per min. The microsyringe needle was left in the injection site for 5 min after each injection to avoid drug reflux. One day after the surgery, animals were allowed to rest for 24 h, and their condition was closely monitored.

2.5. In vivo assessments

2.5.1. Behavioral tests

2.5.1.1. Apomorphine- induced rotation test

Apomorphine-induced rotational behavior was used to evaluate the dopaminergic neuron lesion induced by 6-OHDA on experimental day 23 (EVs I study) and 28 (EVs II study). Apomorphine was dissolved in saline and injected subcutaneously at the dose of 0.2 mg/kg. After 5 min, the rotations were monitored for 30 min. The number of contralateral rotations (to the non-lesioned side) was recorded by examiner blinded to the groups. The animals that failed this test were excluded from the immunohistochemical assessment.

2.5.1.2. CatWalk (CW) gait test

The CW gait test is based on rodent voluntary movement through an enclosed 1.3 m long glass walkway that is illuminated with green fluorescent lighting the walkway from the side and reflecting internally after the rodent comes in contact with the glass floor. Highspeed video camera was located under the walkway and was used to obtain footprint images. The rats were trained 7 days before 6-OHDA injection and on experimental day 7 in the EVs I study. In the EVs II study, rats were trained on experimental days 8 and 16. Before each training session, the animals were placed on the walkway and allowed to habituate for 2 min. Testing was performed on experimental day between 11:00 and 14:00, at least 1 hour after intranasal EVs administration. Testing was successful if the animal crossed the walkway without stopping, and at least 3-4 each paw placements were recorded. Three complete runs across the walkway were recorded for each animal. The software was used to automatically analyze the video images of the runs. Data analysis was performed with a threshold value set at 40 arbitrary units (range 0-225) per pixel. The following parameters were analyzed in EVs I and EVs II studied according to: temporal (stand duration), spatial parameters attributed to individual paws (duty cycle, %), relative spatial relationships between paws (stride length) and interlimb coordination (step cycle). Duty cycle is calculated according to the formula: stand/(stand+swing) x 100% and it represents the stand as a percentage of step cycle. In EVs TD study, swing speed and body speed were also analyzed.

2.5.1.3. Morris water maze (MWM) test

Morris water maze test trainings were used to determine rat spatial learning after the corresponding treatments: on experimental days 26-29 and 39-42 in the EVs II study, and on experimental days 24-27 in the METF study. The apparatus consisted of a blue circular tank (d=180 cm, h=75 cm) that was filled with water $(23\pm1^{\circ}\text{C})$ to a depth that would cover the plexiglass platform (d=10 cm, h=25 cm) for 1 - 2 cm (Ugo Basile, Italy). Each animal underwent 4 trials (120 s for each trial) per day for 4 consecutive days. Animals were trained to find the hidden platform from different starting points in the pool. Rats were gently put in the water facing the wall of the pool. As soon as the animal found the platform, it was given 15 s to stay on it to learn the location. If the platform was not found, the animal was gently guided by the experimenter to the platform and left there for 15 s. An inter-trial period of 10 min was applied for animals between each of the 4 trainings on each day. Rat escape latency was registered as the time in seconds for each animal to find the submerged platform after being put in the pool. Swimming speed was recorded during trainings to evaluate rat motor activity. The probe trial was carried out on experimental day 29 and 42 in the EVs II study and on experimental day 28 in the metformin study. The platform was taken out of the pool and each animal could freely swim for 120 s. Time spent in the target quadrant, number of platform zone crossings, were documented. EthoVision XT 11.0 video tracking software (Noldus, The Netherlands) was used to register the parameters in the trainings and probe trial.

2.5.1.4. Three-chamber sociability test (SCT)

Three-chamber test was performed in the METF study on experimental day 29 to assess rat sociability and social novelty preference. The test was performed in an open-topped box made of clear polycarbonate (41 cm in length, 27 cm in width and 40 cm in height). The box contained 3 chambers of identical size with two clear polycarbonate walls that 10 cm high doorways. Each of the side chambers contained a cylinder made of cylindrical polycarbonate bars spaced 1 cm apart (height 20 cm; diameter 10 cm). All tested animals were habituated to the room and the box for 30 min. The test consisted of two trials: sociability and social novelty preference trial. In the sociability trial, the propensity of animals to interact with an unfamiliar rat was tested. Animals were put in the middle chamber and allowed to freely explore all chambers for 10 min. At the same time, a rat unfamiliar to the tested animal (novel rat 1) was put in the cylinder located in the left chamber. After the end of this trial, a waiting

period of 30 min, were implemented for each tested animal. During this period, novel rat 1 was returned to its cage. In the social novelty preference trial, the preference for novel social interaction was assessed. Tested animals were once again put in the center chamber and allowed to freely explore all chambers. In this case, the novel unfamiliar rat (novel rat 2) was positioned in the cylinder located in the right chamber that was previously empty. The following parameters were analyzed in both trials: 1) sniffing time near each cylinder (less than 1 cm apart) and 2) time spent in each chamber. All experiments were performed using a video recording device placed above the three-chamber box and coupled with an automated tracking program (EthoVision XT 11.5, Noldus, NL).

2.6. Ex vivo analyses

2.6.1. Immunohistochemical assessment

On experimental day 30, the rats were deeply anesthetized with intraperitoneally (i.p.) injected mixture of ketamine/xylazine (100 mg/kg/10 mg/kg, respectively) mixture, transcardially perfused with ice cold saline and fixed with cold 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) solution. For METF study, right brain hemispheres were removed and post-fixed in 4% PFA for 24 h. After fixation, the right brain hemispheres were placed in 30% sucrose-containing solution for 48 h for cryoprotection and subsequently placed in an antifreeze solution.

For each rat brain, 30 µm thick coronal slices were obtained using a cryotome at -26° C (CM1850, Leica Biosystems, USA). The slices were incubated in CB (pH 6.0) at 95°C for 10 min to improve antigen retrieval, subsequently cooled to room temperature and blocked with a SuperBlock® solution for 1 h to decrease backstain formation. Free-floating sections were then stained with the corresponding primary antibody (1:1000). The sections were transferred to a solution containing the primary antibody in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 0.5% Triton X-100 (PBS-T). After 18 h incubation, the sections were rinsed 3 times with PBS-T and transferred to a solution containing the secondary antibody (dilution 1:5000). After 2 h incubation with the secondary antibody, the sections were rinsed 3 times with PBS-T. After rinsing with PBS-T, the sections were incubated with PBS containing DAB, 30% H₂O₂ and 1% nickel ammonium sulfate for 1-2 min. For Iba-1, the sections were also incubated in hematoxylin solution for 1 min to obtain counterstain. All stained sections were mounted on slides (3 sections on each slide) and coverslipped using DPX mountant for histology. In order to obtain similar staining, the sections from all groups were always stained simultaneously in

the same tray. Optical density of protein staining was expressed in arbitrary units (a.u.). All experiments were done in triplicate.

2.6.2. Histochemical assessment

Histochemical detection of acetylcholine esterase-containing nerve axon density was performed using a previously described method (Karnovsky and Roots, 1964), which was optimized and described elsewhere (Kadish and Van Groen, 2002). Briefly, for each right brain hemisphere, 6 coronal slices per animal (30 μ m thick, AP plane: Bregma –2.92 mm to –3.48 mm in the same animal) were obtained. Obtained brain sections (n=5 brain samples per group) were rinsed with a 0.1 M maleate buffer (pH 6.0). Subsequently, the sections were incubated with 0.1 M maleate buffer containing 86.5 mM S-acetylthiocholine iodide, 30 mM ethopropazine, 30 mM copper sulfate, and 100 mM sodium citrate and 0.03 mM potassium hexacyanoferrate for 2 h. Subsequently, the staining was intensified by incubating the sections with 2.5% DAB, 0.2% hydrogen peroxide, and 5% nickel ammonium sulfate for 2 min in 0.05 M Tris buffer (pH 7.6) for 2 min. Optical density of protein staining was expressed in arbitrary units (a.u.). All experiments were done in triplicate.

Nissl body staining was performed using 0.1% cresyl violet acetate solution. 30 μ m thick tissue slices were transferred onto gelatinated slides and air-dried at 37°C. Slides were then rinsed twice for 5 min with PBS and deionized in H₂O for 1 min. Sections were then stained with 0.1% cresyl acetate solution for 20 min in dark. Stained sections were rinsed with deionized water twice for 5 min to remove excess stain and further differentiated by wash in 70% ethanol until desirable staining was achieved. Then, slides were dehydrated in 90% and 96% ethanol. Finally, slides were cleared with xylene 3 times for 3 min each and coverslips were mounted onto the slides using DPX mountant.

2.6.3. Western blot analysis

After rats were euthanized and brains were fixed with ice-cold 4% paraformaldehyde, left brain hemispheres were stored at -80 °C. Tissue samples (cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum separately) were homogenized in a SpeedMill Plus Homogenizer (Analytic Jena, USA) in an appropriate amount (based on tissue amount) of RIPA lysis buffer and protease inhibitor cocktail according to the manufacturer's instructions. Equal amounts of proteins (20 µg) were then separated by 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and subsequently blotted onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes. After blocking for 1 h at room temperature in SuperBlockTM solution, the blots were incubated overnight at room temperature with the following primary antibodies: anti-GLUT-1 (1:1000), anti-GLUT-3 (1:1000), anti-GSK-3 (1:500) and anti-β-actin (1:1000). The blots were then washed with 0.1% Tris buffered solution with Tween-20 and incubated with the corresponding secondary antibody: horseradish-conjugated goat anti-mouse (1:1000) or goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:5000). Blots were incubated with a protein labeling reagent (No-StainTM) for 10 min, then washed 5 times with distilled water. Protein bands were visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence using Pierce ECL Western blotting substrate kit. All experiments were done in triplicate.

2.6.4. Quantification of ex vivo data

Stained and immunostained slides were digitally scanned with the whole slide Pannoramic MIDI II scanner (3DHISTECH Ltd., Hungary) using a $20 \times$ microscope objective. Pannoramic Viewer 1.15.2 software (3DHISTECH Ltd., Hungary) was used to obtain the images of the retrosplenial cortex, *stratum radiatum* of hippocampal *cornu ammonis* 1 and 3 (CA1 and CA3), as well as dentate gyrus (DG) granule cell layer. The optical densities of studied proteins were then measured using these images. Quantification of immunohistochemical, histochemical and Western blot data was done using open source image-processing software (ImageJ, Germany) by a person blinded to the experimental groups.

2.7. In vitro analysis

2.7.1. Proteomic analysis

Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC–MS/MS) analysis was performed by prof. Augustas Pivoriunas's team. LC–MS/MS analysis was performed at the Proteomics Unit, Institute of Biotechnology, University of Helsinki, Finland.

This method is described elsewhere (Narbute et al., 2019).

2.7.2. Inhibition of AChE activity

The acetylcholinesterase inhibitory activity of metformin was evaluated using spectrophotometric method (Ellman et al., 1961) with slight modifications. Neostigmine

bromide was used as positive reference. A reaction mixture consisted of samples containing 100 μ l of 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), 10 μ l of acetylcholine esterase solution (2 U/ml) and 10 μ l of metformin or neostigmine bromide at different concentrations (0.01, 0.1, 0.2, 1, 5 and 10 mM). This mixture was co-incubated in the dark at 250 °C for 5 min in a 96-well plate. Next, 50 μ l of 0.75 mM DTNB were added, and the plate was incubated for 20 min. Then, 15 μ l of 1.5 mM acetylthiocholine iodide were added and incubated for 5 min in the dark. The absorbance was measured after 10 min at a wavelength of 405 nM using ELx808TM microplate reader (BioTek Instruments Ltd., UK).

2.8. Statistical analysis

All data are presented as mean values \pm standard deviation (S.D.) of at least 2 independent experiments. Morris water maze training data were analyzed using 2-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures to account for inter-group variations (with group and training day as factors), followed by Holm-Sidak's multiple comparisons test. Morris water maze probe trial, three-chamber sociability, and social novelty preference test data, as well as the quantitative immunohistochemical, histochemical and Western blot data were analyzed using one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Sidak's multiple comparisons test. Statistical significance was set at $p \le .05$.

3. RESULTS

3.1. Effects of EVs on rat behavior

3.1.1. In the Morris water maze (MWM) test

Rat spatial learning and memory performances in the Morris water maze test are shown in Fig. 11. On post-treatment days 3-5 (Fig. 11A), administration of 6-OHDA resulted in longer escape latency on post-treatment days 3 and 4 ($p \le .0001$), as well as 5 ($p \le .05$) compared to controls, while EVs treatment shortened 6-OHDA-treated rats' escape latency on these days to control group values ($p \le .001$ on post-treatment day 3, $p \le .0001$ on posttreatment day 4 and $p \le .01$ on post-treatment day 5). In the probe trial on post-treatment day 5, 6-OHDA-injected rats spent less time in platform quadrant ($p \le .01$, Fig. 11C) and crossed platform zone considerably less than control ($p \le .05$, Fig. 11E), whereas EVs treatment increased both of these parameters to control group values ($p \le .01$ for time in platform quadrant and $p \le .05$ for platform zone crossings).

On post-treatment days 15-18 (Fig. 11B), escape latencies of 6-OHDA-injected rats were also longer compared to controls ($p \le .0001$). However, EVs-treated rats did not show any changes in escape latencies when compared to 6-OHDA group rats on these days. In the probe trial on post-treatment day 18, 6-OHDA-injected rats showed less time spent in the platform quadrant ($p \le .0001$, Fig. 11D) and markedly less platform zone crossings (Fig. 11F) compared to controls. Treatment with EVs failed to produce changes in both parameters.



Figure 11. The effects of extracellular vesicles (EVs) on rat performance in the MWM test. Rat spatial learning was assessed on post-treatment days (PTD) 2-5 (A) and PTD15-18 (B), as well as on spatial memory on PTD5 (C-E) and PTD18 (D-F). $*p \le .05$, $**p \le .01$, $**p \le .001$ and $****p \le .0001$ vs. Control; $\#p \le .05$, $\#\#p \le .01$, $\#\#\#p \le .001$ and $\#\#\#\#p \le .0001$ vs. 6-OHDA.

3.1.2. In the CatWalk gait test

We observed gait impairments in the CatWalk test 1 (treatment day 17, Fig.12A-B), CatWalk test 2 (post-treatment day 10, Fig.12C-D). In CatWalk test 3 (post-treatment day 10, Fig.12E-F), all gait parameters did not differ between groups. Injection of 6-OHDA prolonged the stand time of all paws except right front (RF) ($p \le .05$, Fig. 12A) on treatment day 9, and of all paws on post-treatment day 10 ($p \le .05$, Fig. 12C) compared with the control group. Rats from the 6-OHDA group that received EVs treatment demonstrated shorter stand time of all paws on treatment day 9 ($p \le .05$ for right and $p \le .01$ for left paws) and on post-treatment day 10 ($p \le .01$). The 6-OHDA injection also decreased the stride length of all paws on treatment day 9 ($p \le .05$, Fig. 12B) and all paws on post-treatment day 10 ($p \le .05$, Fig. 12D). In the EVs-treated 6-OHDA rats on treatment day 9, stride length of the right hind (RH) paw ($p \le .05$) and left front (LF) paw ($p \le .05$) was increased in all paws ($p \le .05$ for the left paws).



Figure 12. Effects of extracellular vesicles (EVs) on rat stand and stride length parameters in the CatWalk test. Gait parameters were assessed on treatment day 9 (A-B), post-treatment day 10 (C-D), and on post-treatment day 20 (E-F). RF – right front paw, RH – right hind paw, LF – left front paw, LH – left hind paw. * $p \le .05$, ** $p \le .01$ and *** $p \le .001$ vs. Control; * $p \le .05$ and ** $p \le .01$ and *** $p \le .001$ vs. 6-OHDA; * $p \le .05$, ** $p \le .01$ and *** $p \le .001$ vs. 6-OHDA+2w.

6-OHDA injection resulted in longer step cycle of all paws ($p \le .0001$ for the RF, RH, $p \le .01$ for the LF and $p \le .001$ for the LH paw, Fig. 13A) on treatment day 9 as well as on post-treatment day 10 ($p \le .05$ for the RF and RH, $p \le .01$ for the LH, and $p \le .001$ for the LF paw, Fig. 13C) compared with the control group. Intranasal EVs administration resulted in

remarkably faster step cycle on treatment day 9 ($p \le .0001$ for the RF, RH; $p \le .01$ for the LF and LH paws) and on post-treatment day 10 ($p \le .05$ for the RH, LH and $p \le .01$ for the LF paws). The 6-OHDA group rats showed an increase in the duty cycle on treatment day 9 (Fig. 13B) of the paws: RF and LF ($p \le .01$), RH ($p \le .05$), and LH ($p \le .001$), on post-treatment day 10 (Fig. 13D) of paws: RF, LF and LH ($p \le .01$). The EVs treatment reduced duty cycle parameter of the paws: RF and LH ($p \le .0001$), LF ($p \le .001$), and RF ($p \le .01$) on treatment day 9 and reduced this parameter on post-treatment day 10 of LF ($p \le .001$), RF ($p \le .01$), RH and LH ($p \le .05$) paws.



Figure 13. Effects of extracellular vesicles (EVs) in the CatWalk gait test. Gait parameters were assessed on treatment day 9 (A-B), post-treatment day 10 (C-D), and on post-treatment day 20 (E-F). RF – right front paw, RH – right hind paw, LF – left

front paw, LH – left hind paw. ${}^{*}p \le .05$, ${}^{**}p \le .01$, ${}^{***}p \le .001$ and ${}^{****}p \le .0001$ vs. Control; ${}^{##}p \le .01$, ${}^{###}p \le .001$ and ${}^{####}p \le 0.001$ vs. 6-OHDA; ${}^{s}p \le .05$, ${}^{ss}p \le .001$ and ${}^{sss}p \le .0001$ vs. 6-OHDA+2w.

The 6-OHDA group rats showed an increase in the swing speed on treatment day 9 (Fig. 14A) of the paws: RF, RH ($p \le .05$) and LF ($p \le .01$) and on post-treatment day 10 (Fig. 14C) of all paws ($p \le .01$ for RF and LH paws, $p \le .001$ for RH and LF paws). EVs therapy increased swing speed on post-treatment day 10 of paws: RF ($p \le .01$), RH ($p \le .001$), LF ($p \le .05$) and LH ($p \le .0001$). 6-OHDA also induced changes in body speed in RH and LH on treatment day 9 ($p \le .05$, Fig. 14B) and on post-treatment day 10 of all paws ($p \le .001$ for RF and LH paws, Fig. 14D). EVs therapy increased body speed of 6-OHDA injected rats on post-treatment day 10 of all paws ($p \le .01$).



Figure 14. Effects of extracellular vesicles (EVs) in the CatWalk gait test. Gait parameters were assessed on treatment day 9 (A-B), post-treatment day 10 (C-D), and on post-treatment day 20 (E-F). RF – right front paw, RH – right hind paw, LF – left front paw, LH – left hind paw. * $p \le .05$ and ** $p \le .01$ vs. Control; * $p \le .05$, ** $p \le .01$, ** $p \le .01$ and ** $p \le .001$ vs. 6-OHDA+2w.

3.2. Effects of EVs on rat brain protein expression

3.2.1. TH density and Nissl body count

Rats that were injected with 6-OHDA demonstrated a remarkable (by 50%) decrease in TH density in the striatum on post-treatment days 6 ($p \le .0001$, Figs. 15A and 15B) and 20 (p

 \leq .0001, Figs. 15E and 15F) compared to controls; similar 6-OHDA effects were observed in the SN ($p \leq$.0001, Figs. 15C, 15D and 15G, 15H, respectively). Treatment of 6-OHDAinjected rats with EVs increased TH density on post-treatment day 6 in the striatum ($p \leq$.0001) and in the SN ($p \leq$.001) to control group values, while no differences in TH density were observed on post-treatment day 20. Furthermore, 6-OHDA-induced lesion produced a decrease in Nissl body count in the SN on post-treatment days 6 and 20 ($p \leq$.0001, Figs. 15J and 15K, respectively) compared to control group values, while this decrease was fully reversed by EV on post-treatment days 6 ($p \leq$.01) and partially on post-treatment day 20 ($p \leq$.05).



Figure 15. Microphotographs and densitometry bars showing the effects of extracellular vesicles (EVs) on the nigrostriatal optical density of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) staining and Nissl body counts. TH density on post-treatment day 6 in the striatum is demonstrated in (A) and substantia nigra in (C); on post-treatment day 20 – in the striatum (E) and substantia nigra (G). 2-week period after EVs treatment discontinuation – 2w. Nissl body staining in shown in the substantia nigra region at 250 × (I) and 600 × magnification in the inserted square below image (I). Correspondingly to the microphotographs, densitometry bars show optical density of TH in the striatum (B, F), substantia nigra (D, H) and Nissl body count on post-treatment day 6 (J) and 20 (K).

3.3. Effects of metformin on rat behavior

3.3.1. In the Morris water maze (MWM) test

In the MWM trainings, STZ rats showed escape latency prolongation on training day 2 (p = 0.0051 vs. Control) and days 3-4 $(p \le 0.0001 \text{ vs. Control})$, as shown in Figure 16A. In STZ rats treated with 75 mg/kg metformin, shortening of escape latency was observed on training day 2 (p = 0.0004 vs. STZ), day 3 (p = 0.0039 vs. STZ) and day 4 (p = 0.0005 vs. STZ). STZ rats that were treated with 100 mg/kg metformin also displayed shorter escape latency on training day 2 (p = 0.0056 vs. STZ), day 3 (p = 0.0185 vs. STZ) and day 4 (p = 0.0049 vs. STZ). Metformin *per se* did not alter escape latency of control animals during all training days. Swimming speed was not altered between groups on either of the training days (Fig. 16B).

In the probe trial, STZ rats demonstrated aggravated spatial memory: they spent shorter time in the target quadrant (p = 0.002 vs. Control, Fig. 16C) and crossed the platform zone less frequently than the controls (p = 0.0053, Fig. 16D). STZ rats treated with metformin at 75 mg/kg showed an increase in the time spent in the quadrant where the platform was previously located (p = 0.0031 vs. STZ). Metformin treatment with 100 mg/kg also resulted in STZ rats spending longer time in the target quadrant (p = 0.0018 vs. STZ). Furthermore, at both doses, metformin increased the number of platform zone crossings of STZ rats ($p \le 0.0001$ vs. STZ). Treatment of control rats with metformin did not produce significant changes in the probe trial parameters.



Figure 16. Effects of metformin (METF) on rat brain escape latency (A), swimming speed (B), time in target quadrant (C) and platform zone crossings (D). Tracking plots of the probe trial are shown in (E). *p < 0.01 and **p < 0.0001 vs. Control; #p < 0.01 and ###p < 0.0001 vs. STZ.

3.3.2. In the 3-chamber sociability test

In the sociability trial, time spent with the unfamiliar rat altered between and inside groups (Fig. 17A). Within all groups, except STZ, rats spent longer time in the chamber with the unfamiliar rat than in the empty chamber: $p \le 0.0001$ in the control, METF75, METF100, METF75+STZ and METF100+STZ groups. STZ-injected rats spent similar time in the chamber with the unfamiliar rat and in the empty chamber. The amount of time spent in the chamber with the unfamiliar rat was also shorter in STZ group rats compared to control group animals ($p \le 0.005$). Metformin-treated STZ rats, however, spent longer time in the chamber with the unfamiliar rat than STZ group animals (p = 0.0141).

The number of sniffing in the sociability trial (shown in Fig. 17B) also differed within all groups. Rats sniffed the cylinder with the unfamiliar rat more frequently in the control (p < 0.0001), METF75 (p = 0.0004), METF 100 (p = 0.0002), METF75+STZ ($p \le 0.0001$) and METF100+STZ (p = 0.0005) groups. STZ group rats had higher numbers of empty cylinder sniffing when compared to sniffing the unfamiliar rat (p = 0.0044) and to the control group rats (p = 0.0036). Metformin-treated STZ-injected rats sniffed the unfamiliar rat more frequently than STZ-injected animals (p = 0.0035 in METF75+STZ and p = 0.0074 in METF100+STZ).

Similar results were also seen in the social novelty preference trial. Longer periods of time were spent with the unfamiliar rat in the control ($p \le 0.0001$), METF75 (p = 0.0025), METF100 (p=0.0017), METF75+STZ (p=0.0052) and METF100+STZ (p = 0.0068) groups (Fig. 17C). In the STZ group, rats spend less time with the unfamiliar rat than with the familiar one ($p \le 0.0001$), also when compared to controls ($p \le 0.0001$). Metformin-treated STZ rats spent more time with the unfamiliar rat than STZ animals (p = 0.0002 in METF75+STZ and $p \le 0.0001$ in METF100+STZ) compared to the STZ group rats.

As shown in Figure 17D, rats sniffed the unfamiliar rat more frequently than the familiar one in all groups except STZ: p < 0.0001 in the control, p = 0.0002 in METF75, $p \le 0.0001$ in METF 100, p = 0.0098 in METF75+STZ and p = 0.0007 in METF100+STZ group. STZ group rats showed lower counts of unfamiliar rat sniffing ($p \le 0.0001$) compared to controls. Higher count of unfamiliar rat sniffing was documented in METF75+STZ (p=0.0398 vs. STZ) and METF100+STZ (p = 0.0002 vs. STZ).



Figure 17. Effects of metformin (METF) on rat brain sociability (A, B) and social novelty preference (C, D). Blank columns show total time spent in the empty chamber (A), sniffing count of cylinder in the empty chamber (B), total time spent in the chamber with the familiar rat (C) and sniffing count of cylinder where the familiar rat was present (D). Tracking plots of the sniffing count in social novelty trial are shown in (E). **p < 0.01 and ***p < 0.0001 vs. Control; #p < 0.05, ##p < 0.01, ###p < 0.001 and ####p < 0.001 vs. STZ; @@@@p < 0.0001 within Control group; &&&p < 0.001 and and the statement of the social statement of the s

&&&&p < 0.0001 within METF75 group; $^{n}p < 0.001$ and $^{n}p < 0.0001$ within METF100 group; $^{++}p < 0.01$ and $^{++++}p < 0.0001$ within STZ group; $^{6}p < 0.01$, $^{6}p < 0.001$ and $^{6}p < 0.001$ within METF75+STZ group; $^{5}p < 0.001$ and $^{5}p < 0.001$ and $^{5}p < 0.001$ within METF100+STZ group.

3.4. Effects of metformin on rat brain protein density

3.4.1. GFAP density

Figure 18 demonstrates the effects of metformin on GFAP density. No differences between groups were detected in cortical GFAP density. In STZ rats, increased GFAP density was observed in CA1 (p = 0.0002), CA3 (p = 0.0068) and DG (p = 0.0008) regions compared to the controls. Metformin treatment decreased the density of GFAP in the STZ rat CA1 (p = 0.0022 in METF75+STZ and p = 0.0358 in METF100+STZ), did not alter it in the CA3 and decreased it in the DG (p = 0.0015 in METF75+STZ).



Figure 18. Effects of metformin (METF) on rat brain density of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in the retrosplenial cortex (CTX) and hippocampal *cornu ammonis* (CA) 1, CA3 and dentate gyrus (DG) regions. Representative

microphotographs depict regions where significant differences were obtained after density measurements (200 × magnification). Scale bar is 100 µm. ** $p \le 0.01$ and *** $p \le 0.001$ vs. Control; * $p \le 0.05$ and *** $p \le 0.01$ vs. STZ.

3.4.2. Iba-1 positive cells

Injection of STZ produced a marked rise in cortical Iba-1-positive cells ($p \le 0.0001$) compared to the controls (Figure 19). In STZ rats treated with metformin, the number of Iba-1-positive cells was reduced to control group values ($p \le 0.0001$). Similarly, administration of STZ resulted in a higher amount of Iba-1-positive microglial cells in the CA1 (p = 0.0006), CA3 (p = 0.0024) and DG (p = 0.0284) regions of the STZ group rat hippocampi. Compared to the STZ group, the number of hippocampal Iba-1-positive cells was lower of rats treated with metformin at 75 mg/kg (p = 0.0006 in CA1, p = 0.0005 in CA3 and in p = 0.0057 DG). At 100 mg/kg, metformin normalized Iba-1-positive cell number in the DG of STZ group rats (p = 0.0284).



Figure 19. Effects of metformin (METF) on rat brain ionized calcium-binding protein (Iba-1)-positive cell number in the retrosplenial cortex (CTX) and hippocampal *cornu ammonis* (CA) 1, CA3 and dentate gyrus (DG) regions. Representative microphotographs depict regions where significant differences were obtained after cell counting (200 × magnification). Scale bar is 100 µm. ${}^{**}p < 0.01$, ${}^{***}p < 0.001$ and ${}^{****}p < 0.001$ vs. Control; ${}^{#}p \le 0.05$, ${}^{##}p \le 0.01$, ${}^{###}p \le 0.001$ and ${}^{####}p \le 0.0001$ vs. STZ.

3.4.3. Effects of metformin on synaptic density

Administration of STZ resulted in decreased SYP-1 density in the cortex (p = 0.0092) and hippocampal DG (p = 0.027), as shown in Figure 20. Metformin treatment did not alter the cortical SYP-1 density of STZ rats, whereas it normalized the density of SYP-1 in the hippocampal DG of STZ-injected rats (p = 0.027 in METF100+STZ). Moreover, metformin *per se* increased SYP-1 density in the hippocampal DG of controls (p = 0.0017 in METF75).



Figure 20. Effects of metformin (METF) on control and streptozocin (STZ)injected rat density of synaptophysin-1 (SYP-1) in the retrosplenial cortex (CTX) and hippocampal *cornu ammonis* (CA) 1, CA3 and dentate gyrus (DG) regions. Representative microphotographs depict regions where significant differences were obtained after density measurements (200 × magnification). Scale bar is 100 µm. $*p \le$ 0.05 and $*p \le 0.01$ vs. Control; $#p \le 0.05$ vs. STZ.

Changes in the GAP43 are depicted in Figure 21. Cortical density of GAP43 was decreased after the STZ injection (p = 0.0004 vs. Control). STZ administration also resulted in lower GAP43 density in the CA1 ($p \le 0.0001$), CA3 ($p \le 0.0001$) and hippocampal DG (p < 0.0001) in comparison to the control group values. Metformin treatment increased the hippocampal GAP43 density of STZ rats in the hippocampal CA1 (p = 0.0141 in METF75+STZ and $p \le 0.0317$ in METF100+STZ), DG (p = 0.0007 in METF75+STZ and p = 0.0027 in METF100+STZ), but not in the CA3. Metformin treatment *per se* decreased GAP43 density in the hippocampal DG compared to the controls (p = 0.0027 in METF75 and METF70).



Figure 21. Effects of metformin (METF) on rat density of growth-associated protein 43 (GAP43) in the retrosplenial cortex (CTX) and hippocampal *cornu ammonis* (CA) 1, CA3 and dentate gyrus (DG) regions. Microphotographs represent regions where significant differences were obtained after density measurements (200 × magnification). ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$ and **** $p \le 0.0001$ vs. Control; * $p \le 0.05$ and **** $p \le 0.001$ vs. STZ.

3.4.4. On acetycholine esterase density and activity

Changes in AChE density are depicted in figure 22. Compared to the control group, an increase in AChE density was observed in the cortex of STZ rats (p = 0.0003), as well as control group rats treated with 100 mg/kg dose of metformin (p = 0.0007). In comparison to STZ-injected rats, no differences in cortical AChE density was observed in STZ group rats that received metformin treatment. Changes in the AChE density were observed in the hippocampal CA1 (p = 0.0010), CA3 (p = 0.0154), but not in the DG of STZ rats. Metformin-treated STZ-rats showed decreased AChE density in the hippocampal CA1 (p = 0.0064 in METF75+STZ and $p \le 0.0001$ in METF100+STZ), CA3 (p = 0.0064 in METF75+STZ and p = 0.0076 in METF100+STZ) and DG (p = 0.004 in METF75+STZ and $p \le 0.0001$ in METF100+STZ). Metformin *per se* increased AChE density in the hippocampal CA1 ($p \le 0.0001$ in METF75 and p = 0.0010 in METF75 and p = 0.0001 in METF75 and p = 0.0001 in METF75 and p = 0.0010 in METF100) of control group rats.



Figure 22. Effects of METF on rat brain density of acetylcholine esterase (AChE) in the retrosplenial cortex (CTX) and hippocampal *cornu ammonis* (CA) 1, CA3 and dentate gyrus (DG) regions. Representative microphotographs depict regions where significant differences were obtained after density measurements (200 × magnification). Scale bar is 100 µm. *** $p \le 0.001$ and **** $p \le 0.0001$ vs. Control; ### $p \le 0.001$ and #### $p \le 0.0001$ vs. STZ.

In vitro, metformin produced concentration-dependent inhibiton of AChE activity (Fig.21): at 0.01 mM – 1.1%, 0.1 mM – 17%, 0.2 mM – 31%, 1 mM – 54% (IC50), 5 mM – 71% and 10 mM – 77%. The calculated IC50 is 1 mM. The, reference drug neostigmine bromide also produced potent inhibition of AChE activity: 62% at 0.001 mM, 76% at 0.01 mM and 84% at 0.1 mM.

(%)

AChE activity inhibition

Figure 23. Effects of METF on acetylcholine esterase (AChE) activity inhibition.

3.4.5. Metformin effects on glucose transporter (GLUTs) and glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) expression

Western blot data (demonstrated in Figure 24) showed a decrease in GLUT-1 hippocampal density in STZ rats ($p \le 0.0001$) and lower density of GLUT-3 density in the cortex ($p \le 0.0001$) and hippocampus ($p \le 0.0001$). In STZ rats, GSK-3 density was higher in the cortex ($p \le 0.0001$) and hippocampus ($p \le 0.0001$) compared to controls. Metformin treatment elevated GLUT-1 density in the hippocampus (p = 0.0001 in METF75+STZ and p = 0.03 in METF100+STZ). GLUT-3 density was also increased by metformin treatment in the cortex (p = 0.0003 in METF75+STZ and $p \le 0.0001$ in METF100+STZ) and hippocampus (p = 0.0001 in METF100+STZ). Moreover, metformin normalized the density of GSK-3 in STZ rats to the control group values in the cortex ($p \le 0.003$).

0.0001 at both doses) and in the hippocampus (p= 0.002 in METF75+STZ and $p \le 0.0001$ in METF100+STZ).

Metformin treatment *per se* did not produce alterations in the density of GLUT-1, GLUT-3 and GSK-3 in all regions.



Figure 24. Effects of metformin (METF) on rat brain density of glucose transporter (GLUT)-1, GLUT-3 and glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) in the rat

cortex and hippocampus. Representative blots depict density measurements of hippocampal GLUT-1 (A and B), GLUT-3 in the cortex (C, D) and hippocampus (E, F), as well as cortical GSK-3 (G, H) and hippocampal GSK-3 (I, J) expression. Graphs demonstrate the ratio for density normalization of the markers to the β -actin (folds to control). **** $p \le 0.0001$ vs. Control; $\#p \le 0.05$, $\#p \le 0.01$, $\#p \le 0.001$ and $\#\#\#p \le 0.0001$ vs. STZ.
4. **DISCUSSION**

Sporadic AD and PD are the two most common neurodegenerative diseases that share many pathological and clinical features. Due to the occurrence of brain atrophy, AD is characterized by progressive memory loss, impairments in problem-solving and language function. PD is mainly associated with gait impairments and postural instability caused by the degeneration of dopamine neurons in the nigrostriatal brain structures. Besides, it has been shown that a substantial loss of dopaminergic neurons in PD leads not only to motor disturbances (Boix et al., 2018; Cosgrove et al., 2015), but also affects other neurotransmitter systems, thus impairing cognitive functions, particularly spatial learning and memory (De Leonibus et al., 2007). The essential mechanisms that link AD and PD, and novel approaches to stop these diseases are described below.

4.1. Antiparkinsonian effects of EVs

4.1.1. EVs improve animal gait and spatial memory performance impaired by 6-OHDA

For the first time, we have studied EVs in PD-like model-rats obtained by intra-MFB injection of 6-OHDA. This neurotoxin that is known to exert a substantial lesion of the dopaminergic system in the nigrostriatal structures and induce gait changes, hence providing the most accurate pathological scenario of PD (Boix et al., 2015). After the injection, 6-OHDA is uptaken into the dopaminergic neurons by dopamine transporters. where it undergoes rapid auto-oxidation induces the formation of considerable amounts of reactive oxygen species and causes mitochondrial respiratory chain inhibition (Mazzio et al., 2004; Schober, 2004). According to the literature, motor impairments can be detectable as early as one week after lesion but fully develop after 3–4 weeks that coincides with an almost complete DA cell loss (88.79%) after 6 weeks (Boix et al., 2018).

Our obtained data using a computerized and automated CatWalk gait analysis system demonstrated that EVs (2.85×10^8) administrated intranasally for 17 consecutive days considerably reversed 6-OHDA-induced gait impairments. They normalized stand, stride length, and step cycle, indicating improved coordination and posture. This means that the animals were able to possess higher levels of stability when walking, and were able to take a step significantly faster compared to 6-OHDA-lesioned group rats. In addition, decreased duty cycle shows how freely animals crossed the walkway. EVs treatment also reduced the

prolongation of swing speed induced by 6-OHDA, a parameter which reflects how much airtime the step takes.

Intriguingly, the gait-improving effects of EVs were presented not only during EVs administration, but also 10 days after its discontinuation. Another phenomenon we have discovered was the ability of EVs to reverse impairments in spatial learning/memory induced by 6-OHDA. However, the duration of this effect was shorter (up to the sixth post-treatment day) than that revealed for gait improvement. These findings raised the following questions: 1) what mechanisms are essential for EVs-induced gait- and memory-improving actions? 2) can the short- and long-term effects of EVs be related to the expression degree of TH, and Nissl bodies count in the nigrostriatal structures (substantia nigra and striatum) 3) which cellular events could maintain the prolonged effects of EVs after discontinuation of their administration? We tried to obtain answers to these questions, at least in part, from biochemical studies in the brain's nigrostriatal regions, as well as from proteomic analyses (see below).

4.1.2. *EVs reverse changes in TH expression and Nissl body count in the nigrostriatal structures*

It is well-known that gait and spatial learning/memory impairments in PD are strongly associated with the loss of dopamine-producing cells in the nigrostriatal structures. Therefore, we firstly analyzed the expression of TH, a key enzyme for the DA synthesis. We found that on post-treatment day 6, EVs produced near to full protection of TH density, which was dramatically decreased by 6-OHDA, but not on post-treatment day 20. At the same time, the amounts of other cellular proteins – Nissl bodies – were reduced 3-fold by 6-OHDA, yet preserved in EVs-treated animals 10 days after the discontinuation of EVs administration; on post-treatment day 20, however, only negligible amounts of preserved Nissl bodies were detected.

These data allow us to consider that the amelioration of gait disturbances until posttreatment day 10 is associated with preservation of nigrostriatal TH expression, and the number of living neurons in the SN, while the amount of Nissl bodies detected on posttreatment day 20 is insufficient to provide gait improvement.

4.1.3. Considerations and arguments about EVs long-term effects

When we compared the time-response data, it is interesting that the reversal of 6-OHDA-induced spatial learning/memory impairments was shorter (up to 6 days after treatment discontinuation) than that of gait performances (up to 10 days).

Since learning and memory processes, as well as gait performances do not only rely on the activity of DA alone, but also on the multiple neurotransmitters, including acetylcholine, glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) (O'Gorman Tuura et al., 2018; Pilipenko et al., 2019b) one may suggest that the synthesis and release of these neurotransmitters after 6-OHDA lesion are not sufficient to maintain memory formation for a long period, while it is enough for providing motor functions (lasting up to 10 days after treatment termination). One cannot exclude the fact that Nissl bodies in the substantia nigra were detected even on posttreatment day 20. Nissl bodies are located in the granular endoplasmic reticulum, a structure that provides protein synthesis and releases via free ribosomes. Also, protein synthesis can be maintained with the aid of numerous mRNA transcripts, non-coding RNA, mitochondrial and genomic DNA, all of which are located within EVs (Murphy et al., 2019). This assumption is based on the results from the proteomic analysis of EVs, where a multitude of proteins produced by EVs were identified; some of these proteins are especially vital for the adequate expression of TH (Narbute et al., 2019). For instance, inducible form of HSP70 may reverse neurodegenerative process by increasing the number of TH-positive neurons and hence prevent the onset of motor impairments (Ekimova et al., 2018). Adaptor protein 14-3-3ζ, which acts as an endogenous activator of TH in DAergic neurons located in the nigrostriatal structures, also enhances TH expression by reducing the proteolysis of this enzyme (Obsilova et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009).

The question about the lifespan of intranasally delivered EVs and their biodistribution and pharmacokinetics in the CNS is still a vague idea (Murphy et al., 2019). Recent data show that EVs are rapidly degraded by hydrolase enzymes (Zheng et al., 2019), while other reports demonstrate the presence of exosomes (combined with gold nanoparticles) in the lesioned brain areas 4 days after EVs administration (Perets et al., 2019). Due to the fact that in our study improvements in gait persisted for at least ten days after discontinuation of EVs administration, we assume that EVs either accumulate in the lesioned nigrostriatal structures for at least ten days, or they trigger the synthesis of essential substances capable of rescuing cell functioning. To summarize this part devoted to EVs, we may suggest that EVs therapy could be a promising therapeutic approach against the PD's neurodegenerative processes. Nevertheless, further studies should be performed to clarify the precise mechanisms of action of EVs. Particularly, further studies to elucidate the role of other neurotransmitter systems and substances crucial for the action of EV, as well as EVs pharmacokinetics are needed.

4.2. Metformin as a possible anti-dementia drug

4.2.1. Metformin reverses STZ-induced spatial memory impairments and improved sociability performance

Metformin is the most widely used drug for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Although, the data about the effects of metformin on cognition in diabetes patients is controversial. Several studies have reported that patients with diabetes, who received metformin treatment, had significantly lower dementia incidence and better cognitive performance than those who did not receive metformin treatment (Campbell et al., 2018; Herath et al., 2016). On the contrary, Moore et al. reported that diabetic patients who received metformin treatment had an increased risk of cognitive impairment (Moore et al., 2013). It is suggested that the cognitive impairment associated with long-term metformin use could be due to metformin-induced vitamin B12 deficiency (Porter et al., 2019). However, the knowledge of its full effects on different/multiple biochemical pathways and processes in the brain is still lacking. Metformin has only been studied in transgenic models of AD (Chen et al., 2009; Kickstein et al., 2010), but not in sAD model-animals. The most accurate model of human sAD pathology can be obtained by the i.c.v. injection of STZ, therefore creating sAD in its early stages, where disease-modifying therapies could halt the progression of the pathology. In our study, we determined the effects of peroral metformin treatment (75 and 100 mg/kg for 21 consecutive days) on behavioral and biochemical parameters in sAD model-rats.

Our current data show that the administration of STZ resulted in the prolongation of rat escape latency in the MWM training, thereby demonstrating deficits in spatial learning. Metformin p.o. administration at doses 75 and 100 mg/kg protected against STZ-induced impairments in spatial learning by shortening the escape latency of sAD model-rats by nearly 40%. Impairments in spatial memory in the probe trial were detected in STZ-injected rats as shorter time spent in the target quadrant and lesser platform zone crossings. Metformin treatment protected STZ rat spatial memory: animals spent significantly more time in the

target quadrant and crossed the platform zone twice as often. Our findings are in good agreement with those studies that were done in a rat model of scopolamine-induced learning and memory impairments, where metformin, administered at 100 mg/kg for 14 consecutive days (Mostafa et al., 2016) and at 50, 100 and 200 mg/kg for 21 days (Aksoz et al., 2019), enhanced spatial learning and memory. Metformin treatment did not affect the swimming speed of both control and STZ group animals, demonstrating no influence on motor function.

It is known that AD patients who suffer from poor facial recognition and social isolation are at higher risk of developing severe cognitive decline and generally have poorer disease outcomes (Ya-Hsin Hsiao, 2018). In addition to cognitive assessments, we studied whether metformin improves sociability and social novelty preference in the three-chamber test. In the sociability trials, we found that control animals had a strong desire to explore the chamber with the novel conspecific animal much more than the empty chamber, whereas sAD model-rats did not. Metformin treatment improved STZ-rats' sociability to a great extent: they spent almost 50% more time sniffing and socializing with the novel conspecific rat compared to STZ-rats. Furthermore, in the social novelty preference trial, control rats demonstrated a willingness to engage in a new social contact, whereas sAD model-rats did not express any preference between the novel and familiar rat. On the other hand, rats that were injected with STZ and received metformin treatment showed major improvements in social novelty preference: they spent significantly more time with the novel rat and sniffing it.

4.2.2. Metformin treatment normalizes brain glucose transport and uptake

We further investigated whether metformin's cognitive effects could be provided via the normalization of glucose transport and uptake. Human and rodent brain almost exclusively relies on glucose for energy production. Any interruption in glucose metabolism can cause immediate failure of brain function. For instance, synaptic dysfunction and consequent cognitive decline is closely associated with disrupted glucose metabolism (Chen and Zhong, 2013). A remarkable decrease in glucose uptake and transport in the hippocampal and cortical brain regions of AD patients has been demonstrated in the early stages of the disease (Landau et al., 2011; Simpson et al., 1994), correlating with decreased GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 levels (Landau et al., 2011).

In our study, GLUT-1 density was markedly reduced in STZ rats compared to controls, indicating deficits in glucose transport and uptake into glial cells. Metformin treatment at both doses partially recovered hippocampal glucose uptake and transport by increasing

GLUT-1 density. Current data correspond to the report that demonstrated normalized GLUT-1 expression in STZ-induced diabetic rats after a 6-week treatment with 100 mg/kg metformin (Sokolovska et al., 2010). In comparison to control animals, sAD model-rats also had significantly lowered cortical and hippocampal GLUT-3 density, indicating impaired neuronal glucose uptake. These deficits were prevented by metformin treatment. Moreover, the 100 mg/kg dose of metformin normalized GLUT-3 density to control group values.

Overactivation of GSK-3 is associated with the main AD hallmarks: memory impairments, increased amyloid- β production, and microglia-mediated inflammatory response (Hooper et al., 2007), as well as exacerbated insulin resistance (E. Beurel, S.F. Grieco, 2015). GSK-3 has been recognized as a promising target for the treatment of both diabetes and AD, since abnormal activation of this enzyme reduces ACh synthesis, which is in accordance with the cholinergic deficit present in AD (Hoshi M, 1996). It is noteworthy that the effects of metformin on GSK-3 have not been studied in AD model-animals previously. Results of the current study show that the administration of STZ resulted in increased GSK-3 expression in all studied brain regions. Metformin treatment lowered GSK-3 expression in all studied brain regions of sAD model-rats.

Therefore, we suggest that the normalization of GSK-3 expression might take part in the neuroprotective effects of metformin in tandem with improved glucose transport and uptake.

4.2.3. Metformin treatment showed anti-inflammatory effects

Early pathological changes in sAD are also associated with an increase in glial activation, namely astroglial and microglial activity. At present, it is unclear whether neuroinflammation in AD occurs before, after or in parallel to impaired brain glucose metabolism. Anti-neuroinflammatory role of metformin is well-documented in diabetic model-animals (Krasnova et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016), but has not been assessed in AD model-animals (Rotermund et al., 2018).

In our study, marked hippocampal astrogliosis (increased GFAP density) was observed in sAD model-rats. At a lower dose of 75 mg/kg, metformin normalized astrogliosis to the control group levels in the hippocampal CA1 and DG regions of sAD model-animals, whereas at a higher dose of 100 mg/kg these effects were only observed in the hippocampal CA1 region. Injection of STZ also resulted in microgliosis (overexpression of Iba-1-positive microglia) in both cortical and hippocampal rat brain regions. Microgliosis was alleviated by metformin treatment: at 75 mg/kg it decreased Iba-1-positive microglia in all studied regions, whereas at 100 mg/kg it reduced microgliosis in the cortex and hippocampal DG of sAD-model rats. The divergent, dose-dependent effects of metformin on neuroinflammation that we have observed coincide, with those reported in a mice model of STZ-induced diabetes (Oliveira et al., 2016), where 21-day treatment with 100 mg/kg metformin ameliorated hippocampal DG microgliosis, but did not prevent astrogliosis (Oliveira et al., 2016). Based on our data, we suggest that metformin has anti-neuroinflammatory effects in sAD, thereby attenuating neurodegenerative events.

4.2.4. Metformin improves synaptic plasticity

Normal synapse functioning requires coordinated actions of multiple pathways, involved in 1) the formation and maintenance of synaptic proteins, 2) synthesis and delivery of mRNA, proteins, neurotransmitters, and other signal molecules (Mosconi, 2013). Compromised synaptic plasticity correlates with perturbations in learning and memory processes. Neuroinflammation and abnormal insulin signaling impair adult neurogenesis in sAD model-rats, resulting in cognitive decline (Mishra et al., 2018). Therefore, we assessed the effects of metformin on the processes involved in synaptic plasticity: synaptic density (SYP-1), synaptogenesis (GAP43), and cholinergic transmission (AChE). A substantial decrease in presynaptic vesicular protein SYP-1 has been previously found in multiple AD brain regions in aged rats (Mota et al., 2019) and STZ-induced sAD model-rats (Pilipenko et al., 2019a).

In our study, the administration of STZ produced significant a decrease in SYP-1 density, hence contributing to deficits in synaptic density in the cortex and hippocampal DG regions of sAD model-rats. Metformin at 100 mg/kg prevented these deficits in the hippocampal DG. Interestingly, metformin at 75 mg/kg *per se* increased SYP-1 density in the hippocampal DG. It is important to stress that DG plays a critical role in memory processing. Several studies suggest that the DG acts as a pre-processor of incoming information, preparing it for subsequent processing in the hippocampal CA3 (Jonas and Lisman, 2014). One might, therefore, suggest that metformin might enhance synaptic vesiculation in healthy rats. Synaptic loss in AD also involves growth-associated protein – GAP43 – that plays a vital role in the regulation of synaptic growth (Korshunova and Mosevitsky, 2010), synaptic plasticity (Rune and Frotscher, 2005) and neurogenesis (Zaccaria et al., 2010). Our results

showed decreased GAP43 expression in sAD model-rats, highlighting impairments in both cortical and hippocampal synapse formation. Metformin treatment significantly improved hippocampal synaptogenesis in STZ group rats, but inexplicably decreased GAP43 density in the hippocampal DG of controls. The effects of metformin on GAP43 have not been described in an AD model yet. Only one report from the spinal cord injury rat model demonstrated that 14-day long metformin treatment (50 mg/kg) enhanced spinal cord expression of GAP43 (Wang et al., 2020).

4.2.5. Metformin exhibits acetylcholine esterase inhibiting properties

Acetylcholine is a neurotransmitter involved in numerous key brain processes, such as learning, memory formation, sensory information, and attention (Xu et al., 2012). Degeneration of the cholinergic system has been reported in a range of AD studies, as well as shown to directly affect neurogenesis (Kotani et al., 2008). Our current findings showed a marked increase in AChE expression in all studied brain structures of STZ-injected rats except hippocampal DG. Metformin treatment normalized AChE expression to near to control levels in all studied hippocampal regions. The anti-cholinesterase activity of metformin was reported in the brain of STZ-induced diabetic rats (Saliu et al., 2016). We also observed inhibitory activity of metformin on AChE *in vitro*: IC_{50} value was 1 mM. Thus, we have obtained important cholinergic component of the mechanism of action of metformin and its ability of accumulating acetylcholine, which can be as essential for memory-enhancing action.

To conclude, the data obtained in this study illustrate, for the first time, the multifaceted effects of metformin in sAD model-rats. We are inclined to suggest that improvements in sAD model-rat cognition and social behavior are provided by metformin targeting the regulation of glucose transport and uptake, as well as by anti-neuroinflammatory activity and maintenance of synaptic plasticity. These data indicate the promise of metformin in the treatment of sAD in its prodromal stages, where dementia is still curable.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. For the first time, we have shown that intranasally administered extracellular vesicles (EVs) derived from human exfoliated deciduous teeth stem cells (SHEDs) can reverse 6-OHDA-induced gait and memory/learning impairments in PD model-rats even after discontinuation of EVs treatment (ten and five days, respectively).
- After discontinuation of EVs treatment, maintenance of the behavioral effects can be explained at least in part of their ability to preserve expression of tyrosine hydroxylase (5 days after the treatment discontinuation) and promote neuronal survival (Nissl bodies) for up two weeks in the nigrostriatal structures.
- Metformin treatment for 21 consecutive days at doses 75 and 100 mg/kg perorally, improved rat spatial learning/memory, sociability and social novelty performance in intracerebroventricular STZ-induced sAD model-animals.
- 4. Mechanisms of neuroprotective effects of metformin found in behavioral tests involve ameliorated neuroinflammation by reducing STZ-induced microgliosis (expression of Iba-1) and astrogliosis (expression of GFAP), as well as improved synaptic growth (expression of GAP-43) and plasticity (expression of SYP-1) in the cortical and hippocampal structures.
- 5. The ability to normalize the expression of glucose transport proteins GLUT-1 and GLUT-3, and glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3), a protein involved in cerebral

insulin signaling), in the cortical and hippocampal structures, is a vital finding in explaining metformin action.

- 6. Metformin exerted also AChE inhibiting properties in vivo and in vitro, indicating the role of cholinergic mechanisms in metformin memory-enhancing effects.
- 7. The obtained data indicate the promise of EVs for the treatment of PD prodromal stages and metformin for the treatment of sAD. Further research is needed to clarify the detailed mechanisms of neuroprotective effects of these substances.

REFERENCES

- Aksoz, E., Gocmez, S.S., Sahin, T.D., Aksit, D., Aksit, H., Utkan, T., 2019. The protective effect of metformin in scopolamine-induced learning and memory impairment in rats. Pharmacol. Reports 71, 818–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharep.2019.04.015
- Ascherio, A., Schwarzschild, M.A., 2016. The epidemiology of Parkinson's disease: risk factors and prevention. Lancet Neurol. 15, 1257–1272. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30230-7
- Athauda, D., Foltynie, T., 2016. Insulin resistance and Parkinson's disease: A new target for disease modification? Prog. Neurobiol. 145–146, 98–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2016.10.001
- BENEDICT, C., 2004. Intranasal insulin improves memory in humans. Psychoneuroendocrinology 29, 1326–1334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2004.04.003
- Berson, A., Nativio, R., Berger, S.L., Bonini, N.M., 2018. Epigenetic Regulation in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Trends Neurosci. 41, 587–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2018.05.005
- Boix, J., Padel, T., Paul, G., 2015. A partial lesion model of Parkinson's disease in mice Characterization of a 6-OHDA-induced medial forebrain bundle lesion. Behav. Brain Res. 284, 196–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.01.053
- Boix, J., von Hieber, D., Connor, B., 2018. Gait analysis for early detection of motor symptoms in the 6-ohda rat model of parkinson's disease. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12, 1– 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00039
- Bouvier, D.S., Murai, K.K., 2015. Synergistic actions of microglia and astrocytes in the progression of Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 45, 1001–1014. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-143156
- Campbell, J.M., Stephenson, M.D., de Courten, B., Chapman, I., Bellman, S.M., Aromataris, E., 2018. Metformin Use Associated with Reduced Risk of Dementia in Patients with Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 65, 1225–1236. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-180263

- Chen, F., Dong, R.R., Zhong, K.L., Ghosh, A., Tang, S.S., Long, Y., Hu, M., Miao, M.X., Liao, J.M., Sun, H.B., Kong, L.Y., Hong, H., 2016. Antidiabetic drugs restore abnormal transport of amyloid-β across the blood–brain barrier and memory impairment in db / db mice. Neuropharmacology 101, 123–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.07.023
- Chen, H., McCaffery, J.M., Chan, D.C., 2007. Mitochondrial Fusion Protects against Neurodegeneration in the Cerebellum. Cell 130, 548–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.026
- Chen, Y., Zhou, K., Wang, R., Liu, Y., Kwak, Y.-D., Ma, T., Thompson, R.C., Zhao, Y., Smith, L., Gasparini, L., Luo, Z., Xu, H., Liao, F.-F., 2009. Antidiabetic drug metformin (GlucophageR) increases biogenesis of Alzheimer's amyloid peptides via up-regulating BACE1 transcription. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106, 3907–3912. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0807991106
- Chen, Z., Zhong, C., 2013. Decoding Alzheimer's disease from perturbed cerebral glucose metabolism: Implications for diagnostic and therapeutic strategies. Prog. Neurobiol. 108, 21–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.06.004
- Chung, J.A., Cummings, J.L., 2000. Neurobehavioral and neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: Characteristics and treatment. Neurol. Clin. 18, 829–846. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0733-8619(05)70228-0
- Cosgrove, J., Alty, J.E., Jamieson, S., 2015. Cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease. Postgrad. Med. J. 91, 212–220. https://doi.org/10.1136/postgradmedj-2015-133247
- Crenshaw, B.J., Gu, L., Sims, B., Matthews, Q.L., 2018. Exosome Biogenesis and Biological Function in Response to Viral Infections. Open Virol. J. 12, 134–148. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874357901812010134
- de la Monte, S.M., 2017. Insulin Resistance and Neurodegeneration: Progress Towards the Development of New Therapeutics for Alzheimer's Disease. Drugs 77, 47–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40265-016-0674-0
- de la Monte, S.M., Wands, J.R., 2005. Review of insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression, signaling, and malfunction in the central nervous system: Relevance to Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 7, 45–61. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2005-

- De Leonibus, E., Pascucci, T., Lopez, S., Oliverio, A., Amalric, M., Mele, A., 2007. Spatial deficits in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 194, 517– 525. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-007-0862-4
- E. Beurel, S.F. Grieco, R.S.J., 2015. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3): regulation, actions, and diseases. Pharmacol. Ther. 148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.11.016
- Ekimova, I. V., Plaksina, D. V., Pastukhov, Y.F., Lapshina, K. V., Lazarev, V.F., Mikhaylova,
 E.R., Polonik, S.G., Pani, B., Margulis, B.A., Guzhova, I. V., Nudler, E., 2018. New
 HSF1 inducer as a therapeutic agent in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. Exp.
 Neurol. 306, 199–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2018.04.012
- El-Ghundi, M., O'Dowd, B.F., George, S.R., 2007. Insights into the Role of Dopamine Receptor Systems in Learning and Memory. Rev. Neurosci. 18. https://doi.org/10.1515/REVNEURO.2007.18.1.37
- Ellman, G.L., Courtney, K.D., Andres, V., Featherstone, R.M., 1961. A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. Biochem. Pharmacol. 7, 88– 95. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(61)90145-9
- Federico, A., Cardaioli, E., Da Pozzo, P., Formichi, P., Gallus, G.N., Radi, E., 2012. Mitochondria, oxidative stress and neurodegeneration. J. Neurol. Sci. 322, 254–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2012.05.030
- Freiherr, J., Hallschmid, M., Frey, W.H., Brünner, Y.F., Chapman, C.D., Hölscher, C., Craft,
 S., De Felice, F.G., Benedict, C., 2013. Intranasal Insulin as a Treatment for Alzheimer's Disease: A Review of Basic Research and Clinical Evidence. CNS Drugs 27, 505–514. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-013-0076-8
- Frozza, R.L., Lourenco, M. V., de Felice, F.G., 2018. Challenges for Alzheimer's disease therapy: Insights from novel mechanisms beyond memory defects. Front. Neurosci. 12, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00037
- Glass, C.K., Saijo, K., Winner, B., Marchetto, M.C., Gage, F.H., 2010. Mechanisms Underlying Inflammation in Neurodegeneration. Cell 140, 918–934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.016

- Guzman-Martinez, L., Maccioni, R.B., Andrade, V., Navarrete, L.P., Pastor, M.G., Ramos-Escobar, N., 2019. Neuroinflammation as a common feature of neurodegenerative disorders. Front. Pharmacol. 10, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.01008
- H. Ferreira-Vieira, T., M. Guimaraes, I., R. Silva, F., M. Ribeiro, F., 2016. Alzheimer's disease: Targeting the Cholinergic System. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 14, 101–115. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X13666150716165726
- Haney, M.J., Zhao, Y., Harrison, E.B., Mahajan, V., Ahmed, S., He, Z., Suresh, P., Hingtgen, S.D., Klyachko, N.L., Mosley, R.L., Gendelman, H.E., Kabanov, A. V., Batrakova, E. V., 2013. Specific Transfection of Inflamed Brain by Macrophages: A New Therapeutic Strategy for Neurodegenerative Diseases. PLoS One 8, e61852. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061852
- Henne, W.M., Buchkovich, N.J., Emr, S.D., 2011. The ESCRT Pathway. Dev. Cell 21, 77–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2011.05.015
- Herath, P.M., Cherbuin, N., Eramudugolla, R., Anstey, K.J., 2016. The Effect of Diabetes Medication on Cognitive Function: Evidence from the PATH Through Life Study. Biomed Res. Int. 2016, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7208429
- Holm, M.M., Kaiser, J., Schwab, M.E., 2018. Extracellular Vesicles: Multimodal Envoys in Neural Maintenance and Repair. Trends Neurosci. 41, 360–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2018.03.006
- Hooper, C., Markevich, V., Plattner, F., Killick, R., Schofield, E., Engel, T., Hernandez, F., Anderton, B., Rosenblum, K., Bliss, T., Cooke, S.F., Avila, J., Lucas, J.J., Giese, K.P., Stephenson, J., Lovestone, S., 2007. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibition is integral to long-term potentiation. Eur. J. Neurosci. 25, 81–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.05245.x
- Horvath, R., Kley, R.A., Lochmüller, H., Vorgerd, M., 2007. Parkinson syndrome, neuropathy, and myopathy caused by the mutation A8344G (MERRF) in tRNALys. Neurology 68, 56–58. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000250334.48038.7a
- Hoshi M, 1996. Regulation of mitochondrial pyruvate dehydrogenase activity by tau protein kinase I/glycogen synthase kinase 3beta in brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 93.

- Islam, M.T., 2017. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction-linked neurodegenerative disorders. Neurol. Res. 39, 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/01616412.2016.1251711
- Ismaiel, A.A.K., Espinosa-Oliva, A.M., Santiago, M., García-Quintanilla, A., Oliva-Martín, M.J., Herrera, A.J., Venero, J.L., de Pablos, R.M., 2016. Metformin, besides exhibiting strong in vivo anti-inflammatory properties, increases mptp-induced damage to the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 298, 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2016.03.004
- James R. Edgar, 2016. Q&A: What are exosomes, exactly? BMC Biol 14. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-016-0268-z
- Jarmalavičiūtė, A., Pivoriūnas, A., 2016. Exosomes as a potential novel therapeutic tools against neurodegenerative diseases. Pharmacol. Res. 113, 816–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2016.02.002
- Jarmalavičiūtė, A., Tunaitis, V., Pivoraitė, U., Venalis, A., Pivoriūnas, A., 2015. Exosomes from dental pulp stem cells rescue human dopaminergic neurons from 6-hydroxydopamine–induced apoptosis. Cytotherapy 17, 932–939. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2014.07.013
- Jonas, P., Lisman, J., 2014. Structure, function, and plasticity of hippocampal dentate gyrus microcircuits. Front. Neural Circuits 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2014.00107
- Jung, Y.J., Tweedie, D., Scerba, M.T., Greig, N.H., 2019. Neuroinflammation as a Factor of Neurodegenerative Disease: Thalidomide Analogs as Treatments. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 7, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2019.00313
- Kadish, I., Van Groen, T., 2002. Low Levels of Estrogen Significantly Diminish Axonal Sprouting after Entorhinal Cortex Lesions in the Mouse. J. Neurosci. 22, 4095–4102. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.22-10-04095.2002
- Kametani, F., Hasegawa, M., 2018. Reconsideration of amyloid hypothesis and tau hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease. Front. Neurosci. 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00025
- Kang, H., Khang, R., Ham, S., Jeong, G.R., Kim, Hyojung, Jo, M., Lee, B.D., Lee, Yun II, Jo,A., Park, C., Kim, Hyein, Seo, J., Paek, S.H., Lee, Y.-S., Choi, J.-Y., Lee, Yunjong, Shin,

J.-H., 2017. Activation of the ATF2/CREB-PGC-1α pathway by metformin leads to dopaminergic neuroprotection. Oncotarget 8. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.18122

- Karnovsky, J.M., Roots, L., 1964. A "direct-coloring" thiocholine method for cholinesterases. J Histochem Cytochem 219–221. https://doi.org/10.1177/12.3.219
- Katila, N., Bhurtel, S., Shadfar, S., Srivastav, S., Neupane, S., Ojha, U., Jeong, G.-S., Choi, D.-Y., 2017. Metformin lowers α-synuclein phosphorylation and upregulates neurotrophic factor in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease.
 Neuropharmacology 125, 396–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.08.015
- Kickstein, E., Krauss, S., Thornhill, P., Rutschow, D., Zeller, R., Sharkey, J., Williamson, R., Fuchs, M., Kohler, A., Glossmann, H., Schneider, R., Sutherland, C., Schweiger, S., 2010. Biguanide metformin acts on tau phosphorylation via mTOR/protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107, 21830–21835. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0912793107
- Korshunova, I., Mosevitsky, M., 2010. Role of the Growth-Associated Protein GAP-43 in NCAM-Mediated Neurite Outgrowth. pp. 169–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1170-4_11
- Kotani, S., Yamauchi, T., Teramoto, T., Ogura, H., 2008. Donepezil, an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, enhances adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Chem. Biol. Interact. 175, 227–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2008.04.004
- Krasnova, I.N., Justinova, Z., Cadet, J.L., 2016. Methamphetamine addiction: involvement of CREB and neuroinflammatory signaling pathways. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 233, 1945–1962. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-016-4235-8
- Łabuzek, K., Suchy, D., Gabryel, B., Bielecka, A., Liber, S., Okopień, B., 2010. Quantification of metformin by the HPLC method in brain regions, cerebrospinal fluid and plasma of rats treated with lipopolysaccharide. Pharmacol. Reports 62, 956–965. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1734-1140(10)70357-1
- Landau, S.M., Harvey, D., Madison, C.M., Koeppe, R.A., Reiman, E.M., Foster, N.L., Weiner, M.W., Jagust, W.J., 2011. Associations between cognitive, functional, and FDG-PET measures of decline in AD and MCI. Neurobiol. Aging 32, 1207–1218.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.07.002

- Landgrave-GÃ³mez, J., Mercado-GÃ³mez, O., Guevara-GuzmÃ_in, R., 2015. Epigenetic mechanisms in neurological and neurodegenerative diseases. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2015.00058
- Lennox, R., Porter, D.W., Flatt, P.R., Holscher, C., Irwin, N., Gault, V.A., 2014. Comparison of the independent and combined effects of sub-chronic therapy with metformin and a stable GLP-1 receptor agonist on cognitive function, hippocampal synaptic plasticity and metabolic control in high-fat fed mice. Neuropharmacology 86, 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.06.026
- Li, J., Deng, J., Sheng, W., Zuo, Z., 2012. Metformin attenuates Alzheimer's disease-like neuropathology in obese, leptin-resistant mice. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 101, 564– 574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2012.03.002
- Lin, C.-L., Cheng, Y.-S., Li, H.-H., Chiu, P.-Y., Chang, Y.-T., Ho, Y.-J., Lai, T.-J., 2016. Amyloid-β suppresses AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling and contributes to α-synuclein-induced cytotoxicity. Exp. Neurol. 275, 84–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.10.009
- Lin, Y., Wang, K., Ma, C., Wang, X., Gong, Z., Zhang, R., Zang, D., Cheng, Y., 2018. Evaluation of Metformin on Cognitive Improvement in Patients With Non-dementia Vascular Cognitive Impairment and Abnormal Glucose Metabolism. Front. Aging Neurosci. 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00227
- Liu, X., Jiao, B., Shen, L., 2018. The Epigenetics of Alzheimer's Disease: Factors and Therapeutic Implications. Front. Genet. 9, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2018.00579
- Long, Q., Upadhya, D., Hattiangady, B., Kim, D.-K., An, S.Y., Shuai, B., Prockop, D.J., Shetty, A.K., 2017. Intranasal MSC-derived A1-exosomes ease inflammation, and prevent abnormal neurogenesis and memory dysfunction after status epilepticus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 114, E3536–E3545. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1703920114
- Mahishale, V., 2015. Ageing world: Health care challenges. J. Sci. Soc. 42, 138. https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-5009.165540

- Mancuso, M., Coppede, F., Migliore, L., Siciliano, G., Murri, L., 2006. Mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress and neurodegeneration. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 10, 59–73. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2006-10110
- Mazzio, E.A., Reams, R.R., Soliman, K.F.A., 2004. The role of oxidative stress, impaired glycolysis and mitochondrial respiratory redox failure in the cytotoxic effects of 6hydroxydopamine in vitro. Brain Res. 1004, 29–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2003.12.034
- Mazzone, G.L., Nistri, A., 2019. Modulation of extrasynaptic GABAergic receptor activity influences glutamate release and neuronal survival following excitotoxic damage to mouse spinal cord neurons. Neurochem. Int. 128, 175–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2019.04.018
- McNeilly, A.D., Williamson, R., Balfour, D.J.K., Stewart, C.A., Sutherland, C., 2012. A highfat-diet-induced cognitive deficit in rats that is not prevented by improving insulin sensitivity with metformin. Diabetologia 55, 3061–3070. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-012-2686-y
- Medeiros, R., Kitazawa, M., Caccamo, A., Baglietto-Vargas, D., Estrada-Hernandez, T.,
 Cribbs, D.H., Fisher, A., LaFerla, F.M., 2011. Loss of Muscarinic M1 Receptor
 Exacerbates Alzheimer's Disease–Like Pathology and Cognitive Decline. Am. J. Pathol.
 179, 980–991. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.04.041
- Mendiola-Precoma, J., Berumen, L.C., Padilla, K., Garcia-Alcocer, G., 2016. Therapies for Prevention and Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. Biomed Res. Int. 2016, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2589276
- Meyer, P.M., Strecker, K., Kendziorra, K., Becker, G., Hesse, S., Woelpl, D., Hensel, A., Patt, M., Sorger, D., Wegner, F., Lobsien, D., Barthel, H., Brust, P., Gertz, H.J., Sabri, O., Schwarz, J., 2009. Reduced α4β2*–Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Binding and Its Relationship to Mild Cognitive and Depressive Symptoms in Parkinson Disease. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 66, 866. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.106
- Millan, M.J., 2014. The epigenetic dimension of Alzheimer's disease: causal, consequence, or curiosity? Dialogues Clin. Neurosci. 16, 373–93.
- Minciacchi, V.R., Freeman, M.R., Di Vizio, D., 2015. Extracellular Vesicles in Cancer:

Exosomes, Microvesicles and the Emerging Role of Large Oncosomes. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 40, 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.02.010

- Mishra, S.K., Singh, S., Shukla, S., Shukla, R., 2018. Intracerebroventricular streptozotocin impairs adult neurogenesis and cognitive functions via regulating neuroinflammation and insulin signaling in adult rats. Neurochem. Int. 113, 56–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2017.11.012
- Moore, A.H., Bigbee, M.J., Boynton, G.E., Wakeham, C.M., Rosenheim, H.M., Staral, C.J., Morrissey, J.L., Hund, A.K., 2010. Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs in Alzheimer's Disease and Parkinson's Disease: Reconsidering the Role of Neuroinflammation. Pharmaceuticals 3, 1812–1841. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph3061812
- Moore, E.M., Mander, A.G., Ames, D., Kotowicz, M.A., Carne, R.P., Brodaty, H., Woodward, M., Boundy, K., Ellis, K.A., Bush, A.I., Faux, N.G., Martins, R., Szoeke, C., Rowe, C., Watters, D.A., 2013. Increased Risk of Cognitive Impairment in Patients With Diabetes Is Associated With Metformin. Diabetes Care 36, 2981–2987. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-0229
- Mosconi, L., 2013. Glucose metabolism in normal aging and Alzheimer's disease: methodological and physiological considerations for PET studies. Clin. Transl. Imaging 1, 217–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40336-013-0026-y
- Mostafa, D.K., Ismail, C.A., Ghareeb, D.A., 2016. Differential metformin dose-dependent effects on cognition in rats: role of Akt. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 233, 2513–2524. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-016-4301-2
- Mota, C., Taipa, R., das Neves, S.P., Monteiro-Martins, S., Monteiro, S., Palha, J.A., Sousa, N., Sousa, J.C., Cerqueira, J.J., 2019. Structural and molecular correlates of cognitive aging in the rat. Sci. Rep. 9, 2005. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39645-w
- Murphy, D.E., de Jong, O.G., Brouwer, M., Wood, M.J., Lavieu, G., Schiffelers, R.M., Vader, P., 2019. Extracellular vesicle-based therapeutics: natural versus engineered targeting and trafficking. Exp. Mol. Med. 51, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-019-0223-5
- Murphy, M.P., Levine, H., 2010. Alzheimer's Disease and the Beta-Amyloid Peptide. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 19, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2010-1221.Alzheimer

- Narbute, K., Piļipenko, V., Pupure, J., Dzirkale, Z., Jonavičė, U., Tunaitis, V., Kriaučiūnaitė, K., Jarmalavičiūtė, A., Jansone, B., Kluša, V., Pivoriūnas, A., 2019. Intranasal Administration of Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Human Teeth Stem Cells Improves Motor Symptoms and Normalizes Tyrosine Hydroxylase Expression in the Substantia Nigra and Striatum of the 6-Hydroxydopamine-Treated Rats. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 8. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.18-0162
- Neve, K.A., Seamans, J.K., Trantham-Davidson, H., 2004. Dopamine Receptor Signaling. J. Recept. Signal Transduct. 24, 165–205. https://doi.org/10.1081/RRS-200029981
- O'Gorman Tuura, R.L., Baumann, C.R., Baumann-Vogel, H., 2018. Beyond Dopamine: GABA, Glutamate, and the Axial Symptoms of Parkinson Disease. Front. Neurol. 9, 806. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00806
- Obsilova, V., Nedbalkova, E., Silhan, J., Boura, E., Herman, P., Vecer, J., Sulc, M., Teisinger, J., Dyda, F., Obsil, T., 2008. The 14-3-3 protein affects the conformation of the regulatory domain of human tyrosine hydroxylase. Biochemistry 47, 1768–1777. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi7019468
- Oliveira, W.H., Nunes, A.K., França, M.E.R., Santos, L.A., Lós, D.B., Rocha, S.W., Barbosa, K.P., Rodrigues, G.B., Peixoto, C.A., 2016. Effects of metformin on inflammation and short-term memory in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Brain Res. 1644, 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.05.013
- Perets, N., Betzer, O., Shapira, R., Brenstein, S., Angel, A., Sadan, T., Ashery, U., Popovtzer, R., Offen, D., 2019. Golden Exosomes Selectively Target Brain Pathologies in Neurodegenerative and Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Nano Lett. 19, 3422–3431. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.8b04148
- Perez-Lloret, S., Barrantes, F.J., 2016. Deficits in cholinergic neurotransmission and their clinical correlates in Parkinson's disease. npj Park. Dis. 2, 16001. https://doi.org/10.1038/npjparkd.2016.1
- Pilipenko, V., Narbute, K., Amara, I., Trovato, A., Scuto, M., Pupure, J., Jansone, B., Poikans, J., Bisenieks, E., Klusa, V., Calabrese, V., 2019a. GABA-containing compound gammapyrone protects against brain impairments in Alzheimer's disease model male rats and prevents mitochondrial dysfunction in cell culture. J. Neurosci. Res. 97.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.24396

- Pilipenko, V., Narbute, K., Beitnere, U., Rumaks, J., Pupure, J., Jansone, B., Klusa, V., 2018. Very low doses of muscimol and baclofen ameliorate cognitive deficits and regulate protein expression in the brain of a rat model of streptozocin-induced Alzheimer's disease. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.11.012
- Pilipenko, V., Narbute, K., Pupure, J., Langrate, I.K., Muceniece, R., Kluša, V., 2020. Neuroprotective potential of antihyperglycemic drug metformin in streptozocin-induced rat model of sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 881, 173290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173290
- Pilipenko, V., Narbute, K., Pupure, J., Rumaks, J., Jansone, B., Klusa, V., 2019b. Neuroprotective action of diazepam at very low and moderate doses in Alzheimer's disease model rats. Neuropharmacology 144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.11.003
- Porter, K.M., Ward, M., Hughes, C.F., O'Kane, M., Hoey, L., McCann, A., Molloy, A.M., Cunningham, C., Casey, M.C., Tracey, F., Strain, S., McCarroll, K., Laird, E., Gallagher, A.M., McNulty, H., 2019. Hyperglycemia and Metformin Use Are Associated With B Vitamin Deficiency and Cognitive Dysfunction in Older Adults. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 104, 4837–4847. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2018-01791
- Prapong, T., Buss, J., Hsu, W.H., Heine, P., West Greenlee, H., Uemura, E., 2002. Amyloid β-Peptide Decreases Neuronal Glucose Uptake Despite Causing Increase in GLUT3 mRNA Transcription and GLUT3 Translocation to the Plasma Membrane. Exp. Neurol. 174, 253–258. https://doi.org/10.1006/exnr.2001.7861
- Prins, N.D., Scheltens, P., 2013. Treating Alzheimer's disease with monoclonal antibodies: current status and outlook for the future. Alzheimers. Res. Ther. 5, 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/alzrt220
- Ricciarelli, R., Fedele, E., 2017. The Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis in Alzheimer's Disease: It's Time to Change Our Mind. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 15, 926–935. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159x15666170116143743
- Rizek, P., Kumar, N., Jog, M.S., 2016. An update on the diagnosis and treatment of Parkinson disease. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 188, 1157–1165. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.151179

- ROSSOR, M.N., GARRETT, N.J., JOHNSON, A.L., MOUNTJOY, C.Q., ROTH, M., IVERSEN, L.L., 1982. A POST-MORTEM STUDY OF THE CHOLINERGIC AND GABA SYSTEMS IN SENILE DEMENTIA. Brain 105, 313–330. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/105.2.313
- Rotermund, C., Machetanz, G., Fitzgerald, J.C., 2018. The Therapeutic Potential of Metformin in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne). 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00400
- Rune, G.M., Frotscher, M., 2005. Neurosteroid synthesis in the hippocampus: Role in synaptic plasticity. Neuroscience 136, 833–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.03.056
- Saliu, J.A., Oboh, G., Omojokun, O.S., Rocha, J.B.T., Schetinger, M.R., Guterries, J.,
 Stefanello, N., Carvalho, F., Schmatz, R., Morsch, V.M., Boligon, A., 2016. Effect of
 dietary supplementation of Padauk (Pterocarpus soyauxii) leaf on high fat
 diet/streptozotocin induced diabetes in rats' brain and platelets. Biomed. Pharmacother.
 84, 1194–1201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2016.10.043
- Sankar, R., Thamotharan, S., Shin, D., Moley, K.H., Devaskar, S.U., 2002. Insulin-responsive glucose transporters—GLUT8 and GLUT4 are expressed in the developing mammalian brain. Mol. Brain Res. 107, 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-328X(02)00487-4
- Schober, A., 2004. Classic toxin-induced animal models of Parkinson?s disease: 6-OHDA and MPTP. Cell Tissue Res. 318, 215–224. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-004-0938-y
- Shah, K., DeSilva, S., Abbruscato, T., 2012. The Role of Glucose Transporters in Brain Disease: Diabetes and Alzheimer's Disease. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 13, 12629–12655. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms131012629
- Shastri, A., Bonifati, D.M., Kishore, U., 2013. Innate Immunity and Neuroinflammation. Mediators Inflamm. 2013, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/342931
- Shi, M., Liu, C., Cook, T.J., Bullock, K.M., Zhao, Y., Ginghina, C., Li, Y., Aro, P., Dator, R., He, C., Hipp, M.J., Zabetian, C.P., Peskind, E.R., Hu, S.-C., Quinn, J.F., Galasko, D.R., Banks, W.A., Zhang, J., 2014. Plasma exosomal α-synuclein is likely CNS-derived and increased in Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 128, 639–650. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-014-1314-y

- Simpson, I.A., Chundu, K.R., Davies-Hill, T., Honer, W.G., Davies, P., 1994. Decreased concentrations of GLUT1 and GLUT3 glucose transporters in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Ann. Neurol. 35, 546–551. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410350507
- Singh, S.K., Srivastav, S., Yadav, A.K., Srikrishna, S., Perry, G., 2016. Overview of Alzheimer's disease and some therapeutic approaches targeting A β by using several synthetic and herbal compounds. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2016. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7361613
- Sokolovska, J., Isajevs, S., Sugoka, O., Sharipova, J., Lauberte, L., Svirina, D., Rostoka, E.,
 Sjakste, T., Kalvinsh, I., Sjakste, N., 2010. Influence of metformin on GLUT1 gene and
 protein expression in rat streptozotocin diabetes mellitus model. Arch. Physiol.
 Biochem. 116, 137–145. https://doi.org/10.3109/13813455.2010.494672
- Soliakov, L., Wonnacott, S., 2001. Involvement of protein kinase C in the presynaptic nicotinic modulation of [3 H]-dopamine release from rat striatal synaptosomes. Br. J. Pharmacol. 132, 785–791. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0703873
- Spinelli, M., Fusco, S., Grassi, C., 2019. Brain Insulin Resistance and Hippocampal Plasticity: Mechanisms and Biomarkers of Cognitive Decline. Front. Neurosci. 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00788
- Steece-Collier, K., Maries, E., Kordower, J.H., 2002. Etiology of Parkinson's disease: Genetics and environment revisited. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 13972–13974. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.242594999
- Streit, W.J., 2002. Microglia as neuroprotective, immunocompetent cells of the CNS. Glia 40, 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.10154
- Sun, D., Zhuang, X., Xiang, X., Liu, Y., Zhang, S., Liu, C., Barnes, S., Grizzle, W., Miller, D., Zhang, H.-G., 2010. A Novel Nanoparticle Drug Delivery System: The Anti-inflammatory Activity of Curcumin Is Enhanced When Encapsulated in Exosomes. Mol. Ther. 18, 1606–1614. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2010.105
- Thangthaeng, N., Rutledge, M., Wong, J.M., Vann, P.H., Forster, M.J., Sumien, N., 2017. Metformin Impairs Spatial Memory and Visual Acuity in Old Male Mice. Aging Dis. 8, 17. https://doi.org/10.14336/AD.2016.1010

- Théry, C., Amigorena, S., Raposo, G., Clayton, A., 2006. Isolation and Characterization of Exosomes from Cell Culture Supernatants and Biological Fluids. Curr. Protoc. Cell Biol. 30, 3.22.1-3.22.29. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30
- Tumminia, A., Vinciguerra, F., Parisi, M., Frittitta, L., 2018. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Alzheimer's Disease: Role of Insulin Signalling and Therapeutic Implications. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19, 3306. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19113306
- Walker, D., Lue, L.-F., 2007. Anti-inflammatory and Immune Therapy for Alzheimers Disease: Current Status and Future Directions. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 5, 232–243. https://doi.org/10.2174/157015907782793667
- Wang, C., Liu, C., Gao, K., Zhao, H., Zhou, Z., Shen, Z., Guo, Y., Li, Z., Yao, T., Mei, X., 2016. Metformin preconditioning provide neuroprotection through enhancement of autophagy and suppression of inflammation and apoptosis after spinal cord injury. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 477, 534–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.05.148
- Wang, H., Zheng, Z., Han, W., Yuan, Y., Li, Y., Zhou, K., Wang, Q., Xie, L., Xu, K., Zhang, H., Xu, H., Wu, Y., Xiao, J., 2020. Metformin Promotes Axon Regeneration after Spinal Cord Injury through Inhibiting Oxidative Stress and Stabilizing Microtubule. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2020, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9741369
- Wang, J., Lou, H., Pedersen, C.J., Smith, A.D., Perez, R.G., 2009. 14-3-3ζ contributes to tyrosine hydroxylase activity in MN9D cells: Localization of dopamine regulatory proteins to mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 14011–14019. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M901310200
- Wang, R., Reddy, P.H., 2017. Role of Glutamate and NMDA Receptors in Alzheimer's Disease. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 57, 1041–1048. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-160763
- Wang, S., Cesca, F., Loers, G., Schweizer, M., Buck, F., Benfenati, F., Schachner, M., Kleene, R., 2011. Synapsin I Is an Oligomannose-Carrying Glycoprotein, Acts As an Oligomannose-Binding Lectin, and Promotes Neurite Outgrowth and Neuronal Survival When Released via Glia-Derived Exosomes. J. Neurosci. 31, 7275–7290. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6476-10.2011
- Wang, X., Su, B., Zheng, L., Perry, G., Smith, M.A., Zhu, X., 2009. The role of abnormal

mitochondrial dynamics in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 109, 153–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.05867.x

- Xin, H., Li, Y., Cui, Y., Yang, J.J., Zhang, Z.G., Chopp, M., 2013. Systemic Administration of Exosomes Released from Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Promote Functional Recovery and Neurovascular Plasticity After Stroke in Rats. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 33, 1711–1715. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2013.152
- Xu, Y., Yan, J., Zhou, P., Li, J., Gao, H., Xia, Y., Wang, Q., 2012. Neurotransmitter receptors and cognitive dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Prog. Neurobiol. 97, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.02.002
- Ya-Hsin Hsiao, 2018. No Title. J Biomed Sci 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-018-0404-x
- Yuan, Q., Li, X., Zhang, S., Wang, H., Wang, Y., 2019. Extracellular vesicles in neurodegenerative diseases: Insights and new perspectives. Genes Dis. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2019.12.001
- Zaccaria, K.J., Lagace, D.C., Eisch, A.J., McCasland, J.S., 2010. Resistance to change and vulnerability to stress: autistic-like features of GAP43-deficient mice. Genes, Brain Behav. 9, 985–996. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2010.00638.x
- Zheng, J., Tan, J., Miao, Y.-Y., Zhang, Q., 2019. Extracellular vesicles degradation pathway based autophagy lysosome pathway. Am. J. Transl. Res. 11, 1170–1183.
- Zhou, J., Wang, S., Sun, K., Chng, W.-J., 2016. The emerging roles of exosomes in leukemogeneis. Oncotarget 7. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.9333
- Zhuang, X., Xiang, X., Grizzle, W., Sun, D., Zhang, S., Axtell, R.C., Ju, S., Mu, J., Zhang, L., Steinman, L., Miller, D., Zhang, H.-G., 2011. Treatment of Brain Inflammatory Diseases by Delivering Exosome Encapsulated Anti-inflammatory Drugs From the Nasal Region to the Brain. Mol. Ther. 19, 1769–1779. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2011.164

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am expressing my gratitude to all who helped with moral support, gave useful advice and trained me to successfully complete this significant work!

I am thankful to Professor Augustas Pivoriūnas (Vilnius Centre of Innovative Medicine, Lithuania) and his team for successful collaboration in performing the study with extracellular vesicles. It has been a pleasure to work and learn from Professor Pivoriūnas.

I am also thankful to my colleagues from the Faculty of Medicine, University of Latvia: head of Department of Pharmacology Professor Baiba Jansone for an opportunity to combine my passion for science with a workplace, Dr. med. Jolanta Pupure for moral support and a helping hand throughout all experiments, Dr. med. Zane Dzirkale for additional advice when needed, Kaspars Jēkabsons, Prof. Ruta Muceniece, and Prof. Una Riekstiņa for their help and advice. A huge thanks goes to my friends and colleagues: Dr. pharm. Ulrika Beitnere who was the first person to introduce me with *in vivo* and *ex vivo* methods and sparked an interest for science, Līga Kunrade for help and advice in polymerase chain reaction (PCR) experiments, Ineta Popēna and Dr. pharm. Jana Namniece for advice and support whenever needed.

I am also thankful for the opportunity to receive a stipend from SIA "Mikrotīkls" and the University of Latvia Foundation.

I could not have completed this work without my colleague Vladimirs Pilipenko with whom we have spent countless hours at the laboratory, training animals, and brainstorming ideas for future projects!

The biggest gratitude goes to my supervisor, mentor, and a brilliant person – Professor Vija Zaiga Kluša. She guided me through the uneasy and challenging path of scientific research. Vija inspired me to associate my life with science, always supported my scientific work, even when things didn't go as planned, as well as encouraged me to further develop my skills and competence and has been a valuable companion.